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1. Name

historic Florence Townsite Historic District

and/or common same

2. Location . . - . |
<n »aﬁ*wreﬁ‘qiﬁw«a%ea bounded by 3rd %—Hee%; F]Orence/\%wﬁ{* Butte Avente, -
street & number  Contra] Avemsrss and Chase/Ruggles Ditch. \7#—_not for publication
city, town Florence N AA— Vicinity of
state Arizona code 04 county Pinal code ()21
3. Classification
Category Ownership Status Present Use
_X__ district ____ public _X_ occupied —__ agriculture _X_ museum
___ building(s) ___ private _X_ unoccupied _X_ commercial _X_ park
— structure _X__ both . work in progress _X_ educational _X_ private residence
___site Public Acquisition Accessible _X__entertainment —X_ religious
____object —___in process ____yes: restricted _X_ government ___ scientific
N/A being considered _A__ yes: unrestricted — industrial —_ transportation
—— no ‘ — military — other:
4. Owner of Property
name Multiple ownership {see appended property inventory forms)
street & number
city, town ____vicinity of state
5. Location of Legal Description
courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Pinal Countv Courthouse
street & number  Pinal and 13th Streets
city, town Florence state  Arjzona
6. Representation in Existing Surveys
titte See continuation sheet has this property been determined eligible? ___yes _X_no
date — federal ___state __ _county ___ local

depository for survey records N/A

city, town state




7. Description

Condition Check one Check one

X excellent X__ deteriorated _X__ unaitered _X__original site
A good ——ruins X__ altered — moved date
X fair _X__ unexposed '

Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance

The Florence Townsite Historic District is Tocated in central Arizona, on the south side
of the Gila River Valley, within the Town of Florence, and lies between Central Avenue on
the west, Florence Street on the east, the Chase/Ruggles Ditch on the north, and Butte
Avenue on the south. Within the boundaries of the district is contained the core of this
historic county seat's late 19th and early 20th century governmental, commercial and
residential development. Sites and structures located in the district therefore collectively
represent the progression of Florence from earliest beginnings as a small post-Civil War,
Anglo-American trading center with an economic base of irrigated agriculture, to the town's
emergence during early statehood years as Pinal County's and the Middle Gila region's

major governmental and business center. Recently uncovered evidence also suggests that a
Classic Period Hohokam settlement may have existed within the district's northern section.

From the district's lowest point in the northwest corner to its highest point in the south-
east corner, the gently sloping Tand on which it is situated rises a total of about 20 feet
in elevation. Florence is a planned community: since 1868 or 1869, urban development in
the district has been based on a surveyed isotropic 'gridiron' utilizing 125-foot-square
blocks and 60-foot wide streets. The district occupies an area of approximately 43 acres
and takes in about one-fifth of the total area of that part of Florence lying south of the
Gila River.

The boundaries of the Florence Townsite Historic District center on a rectangular "core area"
on either side of Main Street, bounded by Quartz, Pinal, Twelfth Streets and Ruggles Avenue,
containing almost all of the town's historic heart, or "business District", as it was known
in the 19th century. The district also includes four additional contiguous areas of sig-
nificant development: (1) across the north end of the "core", several blocks of Ruggles
Avenue (Florence's original Main Street); (2) five blocks on the eastern edge of the "core",
selected to include early and significant Catholic Church properties (F1-50 & F1-51), as
well as a significant residence (F1-41); (3) six blocks at the southeast corner of the
"core", containing the Second Pinal County Courthouse (F1-43), plus two significant resi-
dential structures (F1-40 & F1-44); and (4) six blocks adjacent to the "core's" southwest
corner, containing five significant residences (F1-4, F1-6, F1-7, F1-8 & F1-9), plus a
significant institutional building (F1-5). Within the district, cross-streets running east
and west are Ruggles Avenue, 6th, 8th, 10th, 11th and 12th Streets; streets oriented north-
south are Willow, Quartz, Granite, Main, Bailey, Pinal, Church, and University Streets.

Within the Historic District, structural density is greatest along Main and Bailey Streets,
which together formed the town's original "business District". In this subarea, densities
are highest along Main from 5th to 8th Streets and along Bailey from 10th to 12th Streets.
Development along both Main and Bailey Streets is mostly in the form of contiguous one-

story structures built flush with the right-of-way. East and west of this business district,
structural density decreases rapidly as non-commercial uses take over. Lowest structural
densities in the district occur immediately to the west of Main, between Quartz and Granite
Streets. Two of the blocks between those streets are vacant; three contain only one build-
ing each and two contain two or more buildings.

(continued)



8. Significance

Period Areas of Significance—Check and justify below . B
___ prehistoric ___ archeology-prehistoric ____ community planning landscape architecture____ religion
____1400-1499 ___ archeology-historic ____ conservation — law .___science
____1500-1599 ___ agriculture ____economics ___literature ____sculpture
___1600-1699 _X_ architecture ____education ____ military ___ social/ '
——1700-1799 ____art ____engineering ___ music humanitarian
_X 1800-1899 _X commerce _X_ exploration/settlement ___ philosophy —theater
_X_ 1900~ —___ communications __ industry _)X_ politics/government  ____ transportatnlon

—__invention ____other (specify)
Specific dates Multiple Builder/Architect N/A

Statement of Significance (in one paragraph)

Despite the purely Anglo-American political origins of Florence, as one of the first two
new settlements established in the Gadsden Purchase (that part of present day Arizona south
of the Gila River) after control of the area passed from Mexico to the United States in
1853, the town's Historic District today contains the most significant tangible manifesta-
tion of the region's characteristically bicultural Anglo-Hispanic heritage. This apparent
contradiction arises from the fact that Florence is located in a "cultural overlap" zone,
where Anglo-American influences, diffusing southward from such Anglo culture centers as
Prescott and later Phoenix, coincided with Spanish-Mexican influences disseminated north-
ward from Hispanic culture centers in Mexico and in the Gadsden Purchase, such as Tubac and
Tucson. Thus both Anglo and Hispanic cultural traditions, architectural styles, and urban
development patterns met, mingled, and in some cases merged in Florence from the very be-
ginning of non-Indian settlement of the region. An important consequence of this urban,
architectural, ethnic, and social pluralism is a Historic District which today not only
retains the basic fabric of an early Territorial town, but also contains examples of nearly
every major vernacular tradition or architectural style utilized in Arizona during Territoria
times or early statehood, representing both Spanish-Mexican and Anglo-American architectural
and urban influences and trends. The district is not only a ready-made museum for the study
of the development of architecture in Arizona since Territorial times, but also constitutes
a living urban environment of strong and special character. There is also strong evidence
of significant archaeological possibilities in the district, including the potential for
buried remains both architectural and artifactual.

In addition to its environmental and architectural values, Florence is a community with
substantial significance in Arizona's political, economic, and social history. First, it
was one of the first Anglo-American settlements to have been founded in the Territory.
Second, the town attained early importance in the Territory as a trade and administrative
center; Florence was the site of the first federal land office in southern Arizona (1871),
came close to being selected as the Territorial capital, was third largest town of the
Territory for a time,and during the region's silver mining boom period of the late 1870's
was proposed as a possible site for a branch United States Mint. Third, Florence became
the seat of the new county of Pinal upon its founding in 1875. And fourth, Florence was
selected in 1909 as the second site for the Territorial Penitentiary. The institution
still functions there today, in much expanded form, as the Arizona State Prison.

The Historic Pattern: Pre-1866 (Period of Indigenous Occupation and Use)

The earliest known settlements.inthe Florence portion of the middle Gila valley are those

of the Hohokam peoples, dating from approximately 300 B.C. until about A.D. 1450. Based on
desert farming, the Hohokam culture at first utilized flood-farming, but after about A.D.

(See continuation sheet)



9. Major Bibliographical References

See continuation sheet

10. Geographical Data

+
Acreage of nominated property _35 -
Quadrangle name __Florence Quadrangle scale __1:24,000

UMT References See continuation sheet
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Verbal boundary description and justification

The Boundary of The Florence Townsite Historic District nomination is shown as the black
Tine on the accompanying map entitled: "Florence Townsite Historic District" and drawn
at a scale of 200 feet to the inch.

List all states and counties for properties overlapping state or county houndaries

state N/A code county code

state code county code

11. Form Prepared By

namet/title Harris J. Sobin, AIA, Principal Edited by SHPO staff 9/3/82

organization Harris Sobin and Associates date August 1981
street & number 6550 N. Skyway Road telephone (602) 297-0908
city or town Tucson state Arizona 85718

12. State Historic Preservation Officer Certification

The evaluated significance of this property within the state is:

____ national _X__ state —._local

As the designated State Historic Preservation Officer for the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (Public Law 89—
665), | hereby nominate this property for inclusion in the National Reglster and certify that it has been evaluated
according to the criteria and procedures set forth by the Nahonal Service.

State Historic Preservation Officer sngnature /V,ﬁ /@(K"




NPS Form 10-800-a OMB No. 1024-0018
382) Exp. 10-31-84

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Inventory—Nomination Form

Continuation sheet Item number Page 1 of 1

Florence Townsite Historic District

Significant

F1-1, F1-3 to F1-61,
F1-1A, F1-40A & B, F1-33A, v
F1-41A & B Total: 57 (6 ancillary)

Contributing

F1-52 to F1-60, F1-62 to F1-82,

F1-85 to F1-87, F1-90 to F1-99,

F1-114, F1-119-120, F1-22-23,

F1-128, F1-98A & B, F1-57A Total: 52 (3 ancillary)

Neutral

F1-108 to F1-111, F1-113,
F1-115 to F1-118, F1-127,
F1-140 Total: 11

Intrusions

F1-105, F1-107, F1-112,
F1-124-125, F1-137-138 Total: 8
F1-121
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Glossary of Architectural Terms

Lookout A short cantilevered timber support for an
overhanging roof at a gable; typically used
on Bungalows.

Matchstick ceiling A ceiling made of narrow (3%") tongued-and-
grooved boards. Usually each board is given
a beaded edge. Often a second bead was milled
down the center of each board to give the
appearance of narrower (1 3/8") panelling.

Saguaro rib ceiling A ceiling made of the ribs of the giant Saguaro
cactus (Cereus giganteus or Carnegia gigantea).
Laid at a right angle to supporting round log
beams (vigas) in Sonoran-style adobe buildings,
saguaro ribs were used to support an earth roof
above, functioning as a structural roof deck as
well as a ceiling. Saguaro ribs used in this
way are referred to as savinas, especially in
New Mexico.

Vigas The Spanish term for "beams". In Arizona the
term is employed to describe the peeled round
logs used as primary roof (or occasionally floor)
supports in Sonoran-style adobe structures.
Vigas in Florence were either cottonwood (typically)
or ponderosa pine (rare). Usually used in con-
junction with a saguaro rib ceiling/deck.
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This nomination is based upon intermittent survey work done from 1973 to 1981 by an
architectural firm, Harris Sobin & Associates of Tucson, Arizona. The survey was
principally funded by the Industrial Development Authority of the Town of Florence,
Inc., aided by a matching grant from Arizona State Parks Board and a grant from the
National Endowment for the Arts "City Options" Program. Results of the first phase

of this survey (1973-1977) were published in Florence Townsite Historic District Study:
Final Report (Harris Sobin & Associates, Tucson, 1977). A copy of this report together
with more recent survey records are on file at the offices of the Historic Preservation
Section, Arizona State Parks Board, 1688 West Adams, Phoenix, Arizona 85007. Two
properties in the district, the First Pinal County Courthouse (F1-15) and the Second
Pinal County Courthouse (F1-43) are already listed on the National Register.
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Outside the district to the north lie the actively farmed "bottom lands" of the alluvial flood
plain of the Gila River, an extensive triangle of irrigated agricultural Jand reaching from

the Diversion Dam 9 miles east of town. to the Gila Indian Reservation 30 miles west of
Florence and beyond. A clear-cut line of demarcation between this great band of open rural

farm land and the fabric of the town is formed along the alignment of a historic irrigation
canal, the Chase Ditch (F1-93) which forms a portion of the northwest boundary of the district.
In places, the Chase Ditch follows the 1ine of a prehistoric Hohokam irrigation canal. Despite
the fact that it has been subdivided into urban blocks and streets along with the rest of the
townsite, the north edge of the district as well as that part of the district lying north of

the district today still retains much of the open, rural quality these areas possessed during
the Tatter part of the 19th century. Situated on a low terrace, just above the river-bottom
lands and the Chase Ditch, this northern portion of the town was originally the site of a

number of farm residences and associated outbuildings. While the former sites of two such
residences (F1-94 = and F1-95) have been identified within the district, the only examples

of farm residences standing today in the north Florence area are s1tuated outside the district.”
to the east.

South of the northern and more rural edge of the district is the next distinctive zone or
subarea to be encountered, that of Rugqgles Avenue, Florence's original Main Street. Despite
the spatial gaps which typically separated adiacent buildinas on both sides of Ruggles Avenue,
sometimes substantially, from one another, building facades and porches are mostly built
flush with the street property lines, thereby defining a clear-cut street space. This sense
of enclosure is subtly reinforced by the rows of young cottonwoods planted on both sides of
Ruggles Avenue by the Town in 1976. Most Ruggles Avenue structures are single story residences.
Two major exceptions are the Carmen Michea Residence/Store (F1-47), a two-story high pitched-
roof adobe building, and the 1st Pinal County Courthouse (F1-15), a large pitched-roof adobe
building on the northwest corner of Ruggles Avenue and Main Street, whose west wing is two
stories in height.

The central portion of the district is situated directly south of the Ruggles Avenue area.
Centered on the north-south axis of Main Street, this rather extended central portion displays
a strong consistency over its length. Thus, mov1nq along any of those east-west streets, such
as 8th Street, which cross the core area, the sequence of visual impressions is quite similar.
The southwestern edge of the district, between Willow and Granite Streets, constitutes an
almost entirely residential neighborhood. Buildings here are for the most part set back from
street property lines, and particularly along Willow Street, are usually surrounded by mature
trees, grass lawns, hedges, and other typically suburban landscaping features. This same
suburban pattern is very much in evidence in those areas immediately outside the district to
the west and south. East of this relatively green and well-tended neighborhood is an area
between Quartz and Granite Streets in which several blocks are partly or completely vacant,
with Tittle or no vegetation. While this area is relatively open in character, it also contains
the single most contained street space in Florence, that part of Granite lying between 6th

and 8th Streets, where two brick commercial blocks, a gable-roofed adobe house and a group

of tamarisk trees create a canyon-like, shaded urban alley.

Crossing Main and continuing east toward Bailey Street, the sequence from open to closed is
- reversed. Incontrast to Main, Bailey Street is considerably less built-up, more open and

(continued)
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with more trees, lawns and Tandscaping in evidence. Commercial and residential structures
alike are set back from the street, or from one another, or both. Exceptions to this
general pattern include several rowhouses on the west side of Bailey between 10th and 11th,
and the quartet of buildings on the corner of Bailey and 11th Streets, all of which are
characterized by "zero-setback" sitina. Bailey Street's most prominent structure is the
City Bakery, a two-story brick building (F1-31) rehabilitated in 1973 as the Town Library,”
and located at the southeast corner of Bailey and 8th Streets.

While sharing the open, rather suburban character of the western nart of the district, the
southeastern part of the district contains more of a definite mixture of institutional and
residential uses. For example, east of Bailey and the Library, 8th Street crosses Pinal
Street, passes by two set-back residential buildings, then continues in front of the Catholic
Church of the Assumption of 1912 (F1-50), and the adjacent Gila Chapel complex of 1870-1895
(F1-51), both on the south side of the street. These two church properties are situated
near the east edge of the district between two of Florence's major recreational open spaces
(both outside the district): the Little League baseball field located directly opposite the
church buildings on the north side of 8th Street, and the extensive and vacant grassy
church lot", located directly south of the church buildings and used in part as a municipal
softball field.

Architecturally, the most prominent structure in the district is the Victorian 2nd Pinal
County Courthouse of 1891 (F1-43: on the National Register), sited in the southeast part

of the district in the center on its own landscaped "courthouse square" (equal to 4 regular
town blocks). This structure, with its tall, ornate cupola/clocktower, constitutes a major
point of orientation for much of the town as well as providing the most conspicuous Florence
landmark for a large area of the surrounding valley. The top of the cupola commands a superb
360° view of the entire district, as well as of a considerable stretch of the Gila valley

and the Superstition and Pinal Mountains to the north and northeast of Florence. The build-
ing still houses a large number of government offices and departments.

Main Street is today the center of much of the town's commercial and adult social life.

Along that portion of the street within the district are located several functions of county
government: Florence Town Hall (F1-122),nolice and fire station (F1-114 & F1-115), the town's
bank (F1-65), Florence's only surviving 19th century hotel (F1-16), its movie theater (F1-59),
its newspaper (in F1-22), many of its professional offices, restaurants and small businesses,
its major drugstore (F1-77), almost all of its bars, and Florence's most important preserv-
ation project to date, State Parks' restoration of the 1st Pinal County Courthouse (F1-15;

on the National Register), open to the public as McFarland State Historical Park. Development
along Main Street has for the most part been in the form of contiguous one-story structures
built flush with the right-of-way. While Main Street Tacks a single truly predominant
structure or visual focus today, the 2-story brick wing of Florence Hotel (F1-16) on the
northwest corner of Main and 6th Streets provides an orientation point near the north end

of both the district and the street. Though the first block at the north end of Main Street
is residential and institutional in character, the balance of Main Street is chiefly commercial
in nature.

(continued)
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The Florence Townsite Historic District contains a range of building types: a social club,
commercial structures, two churches, a hotel, a movie theater, residences, and governmental
buildings. A substantial number of residences, earlier commercial buildings, an early church,
and the one surviving early government building are constructed of adobe (sometimes with a
brick veneer and sometimes with a dimensioned timber roof). Some later-style residences

and commercial buildings are of brick or frame. Larger structures are usually constructed

of brick or concrete block.

A broad range of styles, stylistic conventions, and vernacular building traditions is found
within the district. Amona the vernacular building traditions represented in the district
are Sonoran (an adobe vernacular or local version of Spanish Cotonial), and Early and Late
Transitional, two hybrid traditions characterized by the use of Hispanic adobe walling, and
Anglo dimensioned timber-frame pitched roofs. An Early Transitional building is gable-roofed,
uses few manufactured components, has "Sonoran" style street facades, and is built directly
on property lines; a Late Transitional building has a hipped or pyramidal roof, makes greater
use of mass-produced components available with the coming of the railroad, and has large
"Anglo" style setbacks on all sides. This stylistic classification is based on a system de-
veloped as an integral part of the work of the Florence Townsite Historic District Study
(Sobin, 1975, 1977), the first study to identify, label and describe these two Transitional
traditions and to delineate their significance. Established historic styles represented in
the district include American-Victorian (with examples varying from builders' pattern book
houses to a full-blown, Second Empire courthouse), Bungalow, Mission Revival, Pueblo Revival,
Spanish Colonial Revival, Early 20th Century Commercial or Neo-Classical Revival, Art Deco,
and Streamline Modern. Few of the district's buildings were architect designed. Many are
rather plain, but often eloquent examples of regional building traditions which used those
materials and techniques immediately at hand in an arid, isolated, and preindustrial setting.
A few of the district's buildings were carefully designed in accordance with the architectural
language and syntax of several of the established styles. -This approach was, however, usually
confined to governmental or institutional structures. More often, where buildings do show
clear evidence of having been influenced by established $tyles, that influence is manifested
through the use of applied ornament or design elements.

A total of 128 sites and buildings has been inventoried in the district. Of these, 57 are
considered significant. Six of these are ancillary to a primary structure. Fifty-two prop-
erties are classified as contributina. with three being ancillary structures. Six of these
have archaeological potential (F1-94 to F1-99), On the basis of what was present on these
sites historically, it is expected that archaeological data involved would be of value in
understanding the 1ife style and behavior of the occupants and, eventually, for increasing
our knowledge of life in small Arizona towns such as Florence in the period 1866 to 1920.
It is known that filled-in latrines, wells, and other buried trash deposits are likely to
occur on these sites due to extensive excavations in urban area elsewhere in Arizona (e.g.,
Tucson, Phoenix), excavations which have produced thousands of artifacts which have proved
of great value in understanding 1ife in a bygone era. Eleven properties are classified as
neutral, that is to say that they neither contribute nor are intrusive to the district.
Eight properties are classified as intrusions. Because they are dispersed throughout the
district, they have minimal impact upon its overall integrity.

(continued)
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The condition of the district's adobe building covers a full range from excellent to (in

one or two cases) poor. A narrower range of condition characterizes the district's less
maintenance-intensive masonry or frame structures. While older structures in outlying parts
of the district have undergone relatively Tittle modification, it is evident that both
interior and facades remodelling have been resorted to on Main Street over the years. Un-
derneath the various Tayers of paint, plaster, timber facings. "Western Front" arcading and
facade remodellings, Main Street still possesses a large number of significant examples of
Territorial or early statehood structures not outwardly recognizable for what they are, but
nonetheless basically intact underneath.

In recent decades, a relative lack of development pressure has helped Florence Townsite
District structures and urban patterns to survive, ejther intact or in recoverable form.

The Timited contrasts encountered in the area are to be expected within a district containing

a central business core and adjoining residential areas. The business core is characterized
by contiguous buildings, with "zero-setback" street facades. Residential areas are typically
"suburban" in character, with buildings set well back from both streets and property lines.
Despite a variety of different Tand use patterns, and a wide range of building ages and

styles, the district constitutes a cohesive entity, unified by a common integrity of materials,
colors, and urban scale. The district's cohesiveness is further strengthened by a relative
absence of intrusions.or major remodellings.
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500, developed increasingly sophisticated systems of canal irrigation. At the peak of

their culture, Hohokam irrigated farming settlements existed in the Florence area on both
sides of the Gila River valley. The Hohokam canal system, part of which is located just
north of the District and which carried water as far as the Casa Grande pueblo, a National
Historic Landmark Tocated about eight miles to the southeast, represents the first and

most important known man-made structures of any magnitude in this portion of the Gila

valley. For reasons still poorly understood, the Hohokam suddenly disappeared about A.D.
1450, abandoning their compounds, villages, and canals. By the mid-1600's, their successors,
the Pimas, had established themselves in the area and continued the use of sophisticated
Hohokam style irrigation.

Though there is no present evidence that the Pimas established permanent villages in the
immediate Florence area during the Spanish colonial period, they made seasonal use of the
area for farming and food gathering. Near the end of their rule in Southern Arizona the
Spanish seriously considered the establishment of one or more presidios and missions on the
Gila, but the plan was never implemented. Even without Spanish assistance, the Pimas
successfully defended their fields and villages against raiding Apaches and Navajos. Though
the Spanish remained loosely allied with the Pimas in their mutual struggles against the
Apaches, the Pimas carried the burden of resistance. During the Spanish colonial and early
Territorial periods, Piman settlements were concentrated downstream, extending some 40 miles
from Maricopa Wells to within about 10 miles of future Florence. Following Mexican inde-
pendence in 1821, and in recognition of the importance of Piman control and.defense of the
better-watered and more level Gila route between Sonora and California, a peace treaty was
negotiated between the Gila Pimas and the Mexican government. The fact that no permanent
non-Indian settlements developed on the south bank of the Gila while it was officially part
of either Spain or Mexico is likely a consequence of the cordial relationship between
Hispanic authorities and the Pimas.

In the mid-1820's, Anglo-Americans first visited the Gila region. They were trappers, ex-
plorers, and 'mountain men'. By the 1840's, several American military exploration parties
had passed through the area, conducting preliminary survey work for a southern railroad
route. They reported seeing little Indian Tife in the immediate vicinity of the future
Florence but noted extensive evidence of long-abandoned settlements and ancient irrigation
canals. Within six years of the Gadsden Purchase (1853) by which the United States acquired
Southern Arizona, a number of Americans were farming along the Gila valley, apparently in
the same area where existing Piman villages were concentrated. During and just after the
Civil War, Indian and non-Indian activity and settlements in the Middle Gila were clustered
in a 30 mile strip of the valley centered on Sacaton, a trading post 25 miles west of
Florence. This densely occupied strip also included three Butterfield stage stations.
Protection against further non-Indian encroachment on ancestral Indian Tands in the area

was one of the chief motives that led Congress to establish, in 1859, the 100-square mile
Gila River Indian Reservation for the Pimas and Maricopas. Its eastern boundary was located
20 miles west of the future Florence. The Reservation closely surrounded the zone most
densely occupied by these tribes, leaving only valley lands east or west of the Reservation
open to entry under the Homestead Acts.

(continued)
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The Historic Pattern: 1866-1874 (Early Non-Indian Settlement and‘TOwnSite’Peribds)

After the Civil War, about 1865 or 1866, a small settlement, originally called Adamsville,
was founded 12 miles east of the Reservation's eastern boundary. This marked the start of

a sizeable post-war influx of both Anglo and Mexican-Americans to the area. This heightened
activity apparently motivated Indian protests to Washington, leading the Indian Commissioner
to propose an easterly extension of the Reservation as far as Adamsville. As a first step
in implementing this policy, the local Special Agent in 1866 declared a prohibition against
further entry or improvements of property within the proposed extension. While never fin-
alized;- the mere threat of an impending easterly extension of the Reservation and conse-
quent eviction without compensation impelled many settlers between Blackwater Station and
Adamsville to resettle farther east. Much of this resettlement materialized as a group of
scattered ranches in and around what was to become Florence. In addition to being safely
beyond the protected extension, the Florence location was also the only safe point for
fording the Gila for many miles along the valley in either direction. This fact is already
indicated on an early map (1852) of the region on which a large number of north-south Indian
trails on both sides of the river converge at this point. At approximately the same point,
and on the south bank of the river, a settlement labelled "Rancho Alameda" is indicated on

a Civil War period map of the Southwest (Johnson, 1864). A regional census taken just after
the war (U.S. Census for Arizona Territory, 1867) enumerated five ranches: Chase's,
Morehead's, Ramirez', Mineros, and 'Ranch on the Gila'. Though "ranch" locations are not
specified, the names of most of their occupants are among the inhabitants of Florence and
Adamsville enumerated on the first regular census which incTuded these towns (U.S. Census,
1870). Within a decade, these "ranches" were to coalesce into a recognizable settlement.
Clustered along the paths of a growing number of irrigation ditches, these farms or “ranchos"
made a “"staircase" pattern of square, 160-acre claims parallel both to the river and the
land contour. Each claim amounted to an early Anglo or Mexican-American preemptive claim
under federal Homestead Acts. Access to this line of scattered farms was by means of a trail
running roughly northeast-southwest. The western end of this trail terminated just south of
the settlement, where it connected to Leach's Wagon road, a military road connecting Fort
Yuma withCamp Grant and E1 Paso. By 1868, the name Florence (or "Florence Settlements")

was applied to the embryonic town.

At the midpoint of this settlement, a trading center developed when Levi Ruggles, agent for
the Pima, Papago and Maricopa Indians since 1866, purchased a preemptive claim to the Wal-
bridge/Chase Ranch and house (site: F1-94) from C. G. Mason in 1868. Resigning his position
as Indian agent, and working in partnership with Thomas Ewing, Ruggles drew up a town plan
and was soon subdividing and Taying out Tots for sale on his newly-acquired claim and on
land immediately to the east. Ruggles chose a uniquely small-scale grid (125 feet square
blocks separated by streets 60 feet wide). This grid still characterizes the oldest part

of town, including the Florence Townsite Historic District. One of Ruggles's early land
sales was to E. N. Fish & Company of Tucson in 1868. E. N. Fish & Co. purchased a lot on
the south side of the town's first street, directly across from the lot on which Ruggles
would build his new house the following year (site: F] 95). Fish & Co. proceeded to build
and open Florence's first store (F1-3). The company's need for wheat and barley to meet
government contracts to supply Arizona's newly repopulated Army outposts provided the crucial
and necessary incentive for the town's early growth. Fish & Co. apparently attracted a

(continued)
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group of mainly Mexican or Mexican-American farmer-settlers from Tucson to claim arable
Tand in the Florence area, with the promise that their claims could be "proved up" under
the Homestead Acts, following federal survey, for only a small filing fee. This in turn
helped Fish & Co. to assure itself of a steady supply of crops it needed for meeting its
government contracts. Agriculture was to remain the sole economic base of Florence until
the mid-1870s.

The Federal Survey of township T.4 S., R.9 E. in which the fledgling settlement was Tocated,
was completed in May, 1869. This opened up the area, under the Homestead Acts, for ac-
quisition of 160-acre homesteads by payment of filing fees, plus 5 years' residence and
improvements. In turn this helped induce more settlement in the region. In August, 1869,
the U.S. Post Office Department opened a local post office at Florence, and in December,
1870, the adobe Roman Catholic Chapel of the Gila (E. portion, F1-51) was dedicated. It
was the first church to be built in Central Arizona.

Florence now entered a period of further subdivision and expansion of the townsite while
acquiring an increasingly important role as a federal and regional administrative center.
During this period, Ruggles further subdivided and sold Jand to a growing population, in
the area of earliest settlement (the northwest corner of the district), and in the eastern
portion of the district (later to become part of the 160-acre federal Townsite). The first
Federal Land Office in the Gadsen Purchase, with Ruggles as first Register, was opened in
Florence in March, 1873, housed in the modest Walbridge/Mason ranch house (site: F1-94).
Until 1881, when the Land Office moved to Tucson, all federal land business for Southern
Arizona was transacted at Florence. Local efforts to persuade the territorial legislature
to establish a new county, with Florence as its adminstrative center, finally succeeded in
January 1875. A bill, introduced by Florence pioneer, Peter Brady, created Pinal County
with Florence the county seat.

The Historic Pattern: 1876-1902 (Mining and Canal Boom Periods)

In March, 1875, one of Arizona's major silver ore bodies was discovered at the Silver King
Mine, 35 miles northeast of Florence. This discovery further boosted the town's population
and strengthened its economy. It was during the ensuing "mining boom" period, that Florence
became the major trading center for the area's new mining communities. At this time the
Territorial Legislature proposed to Congress the establishment of a branch mint in Florence,
and the town acquired its first newspaper, The Citizen, published by John Clum in his

home (F1-12). 1In 1877, at the Florence Land Office, a federal townsite application for
Florence was filed, covering the quarter section bounded by Main Street, Ruggles Avenue

(the original Main St.), and Butte and East Streets. Suddenly, traffic heading through
Florence for the mines to the north became predominant. This appears to have led to the
renaming of a north-south street as the second Main Street of Florence.

By 1881, a second paper, the Arizona Enterprise, began publication in an adobe office on
Bailey Street (F1-35), with T. F. Weedin as editor and manager. By this time, Florence also
boasted several general stores, including the second, much-expanded location of the E. N.
Fish & Co. operation on the town's new north-south Main Street (F1-25), 2 hotels, a brewery,
28 saloons, 2 public schools, a Catholic church (F1-51), a county courthouse (F1-15), and

a population of 942 (1880 Census). In 1879, the Southern Pacific main 1ine reached Casa

(continued)
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Grande, providing Florence with a relatively convenient Tink with the rest of the country.
After a U.S. patent to the Townsite was issued in 1882, a protracted Tegal dispute, insti-
cated . by Ruggles, was settled when Probate Judge Bartleson issued deeds not to Rugales,
as he demanded, but to the actual occupants of blocks and lots within the Townsite.

During the 1880s, Florence experienced a sharp economic decline caused by a natjonal recession,
loss of the town's federal Land Office to Tucson, and a steady decline in the quality of the
Silver King's ore. In the Tate 1880s, Florence's fortunes changed once more, and the town
enjoyed a second boom, based this time on a bold new canal and water storage scheme on a scale
unprecedented for the Gila valley. Since the beginnings of the town, numerous early private
canals (e.g., F1-93) provided water for area agriculture but these proved inadequate to supply
an increasing local demand. The Florence Canal and Land Company, established in 1886, planned
an extensive irrigation scheme covering 150,000 acres of land southwest of Florence. During
the next few years, this project generated much local optimism and a new rush of settlers into
the region. Manifesting this new upsurge of Tocal confidence in the town's future was the new
W. C. Smith & Co. Building of 1889 (F1-18), with a cast-iron glass and sheet metal front
imported from St. Louis. A more important symbol of Jocal confidence and pride was the monu-
mental Second Pinal Courthouse (F1-43) of 1891, designed by James M. Creighton of Phoenix.

In 1887, almost all of the Gila's flow was diverted into the new Florence Canal, benefitting
local farmers but Teaving 1ittle if any water to reach the Indian Reservation downstream.
This caused much hardship among the Pimas, leading finally to a sizeable migration north to
the Salt River Valley, and to demands by both Indian agents and Indians for a dam on the

Gila to assure future water supply to the Reservation.. Provoked by the national panic of
1893, a serious, lengthy drought (1896-1908) and subsequent agricultural depression, Flo-
rence once again encountered economic difficulties. During this time, an event occurred with
long-lasting consequences for Florence. Phoenix and Florence fought to secure one of Arizona's
first federal reclamation projects under the National Reclamation Act of 1902. This contest
ended in victory for Phoenix with authorization for construction of Roosevelt Dam on the Salt
River.

The Historic Pattern: 1903-1931 (Late Territorial and Early Statehood Periods)

During the opening years of the 20th century, Florence slowly recovered from the economic
slump of the 1890s. In 1904 a branch 1ine of the Arizona Eastern railroad under construction
from Phoenix to Winkelman, arrived at Florence Junction, just across the Gila from Florence.
In 1909, the Territorial Penitentiary was transferred to Florence from Yuma. Arizona was
admitted as a state in 1912, and Congress passed the Gila Diversion Dam Bill 1in 1914. This
led to completion of the Ashurst-Hayden Diversion Dam in 1926 and the upstream Coolidge Dam,
assuring finally a dependable water supply for Florence and the agricultural areas below it,
and partial restoration of the Pima Indians' water rights. During this early statehood
period, the last commercial development of major consequence took place on Main Street, in-
cluding the town's first movie theatre (ca. 1914: site is F1-59 & F1-61), and electric street
lighting (1917).

The Historic Pattern: Post 1931 (The Modern Era)

During the Great Depression of the 1930s, Florence along with much of the rest of the state,
suffered from the effects of the national economic downturn. Population remained almost

(continued)
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static until after World War II. Since the war's end, the town has enjoyed a slow but steady
increase in new residents. A substantial portion of the newcomers joined the expanding work
force at the State Prison, as well as an expanding Pinal County government. Many recent
arrivals are retirees, living for part or all of the year at Florence Gardens, a mobile
home/RV community established on the north bank of the river in 1971 and since annexed by

the town. Florence currently remains the center of an agricultural region based on irrigated
farming supported by the Coolidge Dam/San Carlos Irrigation system. It is also the marketing
and service center for residents of its part of the Gila valley. The town's population has
increased, now standing at about 3400 people (1980 Census). Florence offers a pleasant,
Tow-key way of life, without the large city burdens of traffic or pollution. Little funda-
mental change has taken place since the early decades of this century. Florence is still
surrounded by cultivated fields; it still retains much of its original street pattern,
portions of its early urban irrigation system, and many of its older buildings. Thus,
Florence provides today a clear picture of town development in Central Arizona during the
past century.

The Demographic Pattern

The two major components of Florence's population (Hispanic, Anglo-American) have remained
demographically predominant from the original settlement of the town to the present day.
From the very start (1866-68) of homesteading in the area, Anglo-Americans held most of

the area's economic power, contributed most of the community's leadership, and provided
nearly all of the town's early professionals, politicians, and promoters. Among Anglo
residents were also many of the town's miners and teamsters, plus most of its saloon keepers,
merchants, carpenters, and blacksmiths. Historically, the Hispanic group in Florence in-
cluded miners, grocers, butchers, ranch hands, most of the town's masons, store clerks,

and most of the area's farmers or farm laborers. By the end of the 19th century, the
Hispanic group also came to include merchants, ranchers, and several community leaders.
Florence's colony of displaced Europeans consisted mostly of farmers, ranchers, saloon
keepers, and merchants, plus a long succession of French priests. Members of the small
group of Chinese immigrants who began to arrive in Florence in the 1880's and 90's usually
held jobs as Taundrymen or cooks, but within a few decades the Tlist of this group's
occupations had expanded to include a grocer, a saloon keeper, and a restaurateur/hotelier.
Another small group of Florence's early day residents was comprised of Arizonan and Sonoran
born Indians who often had Hispanic surnames. By the mid-1880's, some Papago members of
this group had settled a small village a half mile south of the district. By 1918, this
village had been relocated 1% miles west of the district; "Florence Village", as it is
called, was recently (1978) designated a federal reservation. Blacks historically consti-
tuted the smallest minority identifiable from the Florence census data. Early members of
this tiny group included the town's first barber, one of its first bakers, and a hotel cook.

A clear trend has emerged over the years in the relative importance of Florence's population
groups. The first Census to include Florence (1870) showed a clear majority of Hispanics
(73%) over Anglos (23%) and a small (3%) minority of Europeans. Besides reporting fourfold
in the town's population, the 1880 Census recorded a definite Hispanic downturn (25% Anglo,
67% Hispanic, 5% European), reflecting an influx of non-Hispanics during the mining boom

of 1875-80. The 1980 Census figures suggest a steady continuation of the same population
trend: Florence population today is made up of about 66% Anglos and 34% Hispanics.

(continued)
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Association with Significant Individuals

The major personalities of the town's first decade were typically farmers, prospectors,
merchants, government officials, and clergymen. One of the district's earliest land
claimants was Charles G. Mason, who arrived in Florence from Prescott and farmed the
Halbridge ranch from 1867 to 1868. Either Walbridge or Mason built what has been tradi-
tionally considered the first building in the district (site: F1-94). In the next decace
Mason sold his ranch, homesteaded another on the opposite side of the Gila, and was one
of the discoverers of the Silver King Mine, which contributed materially to the prosperity
of the entire region for over a decade. Rafael Saiz, Tucson dairyman and Arizona native,
settled on the 160-acre tract which later became the federal townsite but sold his claim
to Levi Ruggles in 1869 and moved back to Tucson. Another early claimant to farm land in
the Florence area was Peter Brady, explorer, soldier, lawman, census official, federal
surveyor, and Territorial legislator. Brady located about a mile west of the district at
the end of the Chase ditch (F1-93). He later introduced in the Territorial Legislature
the bill which created Pinal County.

Without challenge, the most important political and business figure of early Florence was
Colonel Levi Ruggles, a Civil War veteran, former carpenter, school teacher, and surveyor.
He is generally accepted as the founder of the town. Ruggles came to Arizona as an Indian
agent but rapidly moved into land speculation and real estate development. During his
local career, Ruggles served in a wide variety of town, county, territorial, and federal
positions, including Probate Judge, Territorial legislator, and Register and Receiver of
Florence's Federal Land Office. He appears to have first lived in the Walbridge/Mason
"shelter" (site: F1-94) but soon built a larger house on adjacent land (site: F1-95).
Ruggles operated a general store on Main Street (site: F1-21) and drew up the plans for
the First Pinal County Courthouse of 1877 (F1-15). Another early leader and Florence
businessman, Joseph Collingwood, opened a branch of Tucson's E. N. Fish & Company in 1868
and Tater became sole owner of the Florence branch of the business. He became the first
Postmaster and built Florence's first two-story house, long the town's residential show
place (site: F1-98; windmill, F1-98A; help's quarters F1-98B).

The town's first clergyman was Father Andre Echallier. Accompanying Vicar Apostolic Sal-
pointe from France in 1869, Echallier secured a conveyance of land from Ruggles in what

was to become the federal townsite, constructed there in 1870 the Chapel of the Gila (E.
portion, F1-51), and was its first priest. A famous personality associated with the Chapel
is Dr. Carlos Montezuma. Born Wassajo, a Yavapai Indian, he was captured in a Pima raid

at age 5 and was sold to Carlos Gentile, an itinerant photographer. He was baptized by
Father Echallier at the Chapel in November, 1871, taken by Gentile to I1linois and Brooklyn,
and brought up by a succession of guardians in a non-Indian world. He became a physician
and nationally known advocate of Indian rights in adult 1ife. Another early Florence
personality is the extraordinary Captain John D. Walker. Part Indian, he was born in
I11inois and came to Arizona as a member of Carleton's California Column in 1862. After
his discharge from the Army, he lived with the Pimas and became a scientist, anthropologist,
amateur physician, and self-taught linguist, writing the first Pima grammar. He later moved
to Florence (F1-48), and served with distinction in several elected positions, including
county surveyor and the county's first Probate Judge. Walker was later a co-discoverer of
the Vekol Mine in Papago country, a major silver Tode.

(continued)
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In the last quarter of the 19th century, the list of the district's major personalities
expanded to include professionals such as attorneys, journalists and (visiting) architects,
as well as a growing number of immigrants who moved to Arizona and developed highly success-
ful businesses. A number of these individuals converted their drive, imagination, and
training into positions of spiritual, political, or financial power in the community. Out-
standing among these individuals are Florence's three early, dynamic, often opinionated,
newspaper editor-managers: John Clum, Rollin Brown, and Thomas Weedin. Clum, a former

San Carlos Apache Indian agent, brought the Tucson Citizen to Florence in 1877 at the peak
of the mining boom. He operated for a year out of his new home (F1-12) before moving the
paper back to Tucson. Shortly after, he moved to the Territory's next boom town, Tombstone,
and founded the Epitaph. Brown was, at times, a distinctly sharp-tongued advocate of Anglo
values. He was part owner of the Citizen during and after its year in Florence and later
edited the town's second paper, the Enterprise (1887-1894), through the canal boom period
(residence: F1-13, office: F1-35). Aside from interests in mining and running a local assay
office, Weedin managed and edited the Enterprise from 1881 to 1887 (F1-35), as well as the
town's third paper, the Blade-Tribune (T90T-1913). Editor Weedin was also the town's first
Mayor and, by any measure, Florence's most energetic booster of the period. In addition,
lleedin served as a Pinal County Supervisor, Clerk of U.S. Court, a Territorial legislator,
and Register of the U.S. Land Office in Phoenix. He was instrumental in inducing the
Territorial legislature to move the Penitentiary from Yuma to Florence in 1909. Father
Edouard Girard, French-born successor to Echallier as the town's priest, was responsible
for building the first Catholic churches of Phoenix and Tempe (both began as missions of
Florence) and a new Florence church (First Assumption) in 1884 (destroyed; site: F1-50).

He also built St. Theresa's Academy (F1-51) in Florence in 1883 as an extension of the
Chapel of the Gila.

Granville Oury (residence: F1-48), prominent Florence attorney and real estate promoter,
held a wide variety of public offices, including District Court judge, Territorial legis-
lator, Speaker of the House, Territorial Attorney General, Arizona delegate to the Confed-
erate Congress during the Civil War, and Pinal County District Attorney. Attorney Joseph
H. Kibbey moved to Florence in 1888 at the height of the canal boom, became cognse] for
the promoters of the Florence Canal Comapny, and was a recognized expert on Ar1zonafs
water problems. His talents won him quick fame and led to his appointments as Justice of
the Territorial Supreme Court (1889) and as Territorial Governor (1905). Richard Sloan,
another well known local attorney, later Associate Justiceof the Arizona Supreme Court
and last Territorial Governor, lived for a time in the Clark Residence (F1-23).

Leading Florence merchants of the late 19th century period included Anglo-Americans such
as Charles W. Tillman, cabinet maker, carpenter, and undertaker (residence: 51-53) and a
number of displaced Europeans. These included Swiss-born Jacob Suter, tinsmith and hard-
ware dealer (residence: F1-32), who served as Chairman of the Pinal County Board of Super-
visors during the 1880's, and Joseph Spinas, also of Swiss origin (residence: F1-32;
rental house: F1-33), an early settler, successful farmer and cattle rancher. Another .
displaced European was Jean-Baptiste Michea, a former French soldier aqd veteran of Maxi-
milian's army in Mexico, who established a successful general merchandise store and }umber
business adjacent to his Florence home (F1-47). Another successful 19th century immigrant
was Chinese-born Ah Lee, who became proprietor of a general merchandise store (F1-28) and

(continued)
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about 1896, of the rlorence HOLel (FI1-10). The T1irst architect Known to have designed a
Florence building was James M. Creighton of Phoenix. He designed the most important ex-
amples of the American Victorian styles to be built in Florence, including the 1889 W. C.
Smith & Company Building (F1-18), and won the competition to design the Second Pinal County
Courthouse of 1891 (F1-43). Creighton designed many other important structures throughout
the Territory, including the first Maricopa County Courthouse and the first building of the
University of Arizona, "01d Main".

During the first quarter of the 20th century, one of the most prominent citizens of Florence
was John J. Keating (residence: F1-4). An early stage coach driver, he settled in Florence

by 1880, became a successful saloon keeper, investor, and entrepreneur, founded Keating's

Dance Hall & Opera House, developed Main Street's Keating's Block (F1-19 & F1-20), and served
in various public capacities, including Mayor, County Supervisor, and State legislator. Among
other early residents who succeeded in local business ventures were Ramon Arballo, in 1884
clerk at the Michea stores (F1-47 & F1-24), by 1893 a full partner, later a member of the

town council, and Aquiles Arriola (residence site: F1-99), who ran the popular Cosmopolitan
Store (site: F1-119) for many years, starting in 1900. One of Aquiles' sons, Gus Arriola, is
today nationally known as creator of the comic strip, "Gordo", said by old-time residents to
represent faithfully (in disguised form) the bicultural 1ife and times of early 20th century
Florence. Another Arizona personality associated with Florence was George A. Mauk of Tombstone
Globe, and later Phoenix, who held successive posts as telegrapher, Wells Fargo expressman,
railroad agent, Territorial auditor, and later U.S. Marshal. An early theater entrepreneur,
Mauk's Florence properties (the Isis Movie Theaters, both first and second (F1-59), and Mauk
Building (F1-61) were one Tink in what probably constituted the first chain of movie theaters
in central Arizona. Other 20th century figures of note include Robert T. Jones, local pharma-
cist in the early 1930's (F1-77), later State senator and Arizona governor (1938-40); John H.
Zellweger, cattle rancher and banker, who served as Mayor in the early 1930's (residence:F1-54)
the famous cowboy actor, Tom Mix, who wintered in Florence (F1-10) in the 1930's; and Ernest
McFarland, a Florence attorney during the 1920's, who served in a series of increasingly pres-
tigious public positions, including County Attorney, Arizona Supreme Court Justice, Governor of
Arizona, and U.S. Senator from Arizona (offices: F1-29 & F1-38). McFarland purchased the First
Pinal County Courthouse in 1974 and donated it to the Arizona State Parks Board, together with
funding for its restoration as a State Park (F1-15).

District Architecture's Contribution to a Sense of Time and Place

Relatively few district structures exemplify strict adherence to the established canons of

19th or early 20th century architectural styles. Those which do are almost all architect
designed, institutional or commercial buildings. For the most part, historic structures in

the district represent a broad cross-section of the various vernacular building traditions
which appeared in Arizona during the 19th and early 20th centuries. Many of these constitute
simplified expressions of architectural styles of the day as interpreted by local builders.
These anonymous structures provide a sianificant source of information concerning vernacular
building design and technology during territorial and early statehood periods. The Florence
Townsite Historic District is, for example, one of the few Tocations in Southern Arizona

which fully demonstrates the region's typical three-stage "frontier sequence". This sequence
begins with (first), an early period of acculturation, in which most Anglo and Mexican-American
settlers adopt primitive, regionally congruous, Hispanic architectural and urban patterns re-
lying on materials immediately at hand and on Mexican adobe masons using traditional techniques
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Sequence continues with (second), a period of cultural fusion, coinciding approximately in
Florence with the mining boom, in which Hispanic adobe walling is combined with Anglo-
American framed roofs, the latter facilitated by the availability of dimensioned Tumber

and Anglo carpenters. The sequence ends with (third) a period of cultural importation,
beginning in Florence with the canal boom, characterized by a sequence of "styles" far

more dependent on manufactured materials and non-regional concepts, frequently made possible
only by the coming of railroads and the opening of local brick yards. In Florence, as in
many Southern Arizona towns, this phase was accelerated by the town's vision of itself as
an important future city of metropolitan status. Though Florence has continued to grow at
a modest rate, its early structures and the clear sequence they reveal have managed to sur-
vive relatively intact, providing a significant and uniquely valuable illustration of the
development pattern of a pioneer bicultural Arizona community.

Praservation Activity in the District

Public and private sectors have both taken an active interest in the preservation of the
district's historic resources. The Florence Industrial Development Authority has provided
the most important initiative and support in the following ways: (1) facilitating the
rehabilitation for adaptive use of the City Bakery (F1-31) as Town Library (1973); (2)
rehabilitation of the 1888 Jacob Suter House (F1-32) for adaptive use as Pinal Visitor
Center (1976); (3) sponsorship of a detailed historic study of Florence (1973-77), encom-
passing the oldest part of Florence, which included research and presentation of the town's
general history, urban development, and architectural evolution, a district survey of a
627-property study area, and a detailed preservation program for guiding future conservation
and development, compiled and published in a 380-page Final Report (Sobin, 1977); and (4)
sponsorship of the present National Register District Nomination for a defined area within
the boundaries of the original study area, based on data developed by the earlier preser-
vation study. The Florence Historic Townsite Preservation Study was awarded a $10,000
"City Options" grant by the National Endowment for the Arts in 1974; in 1980 the study
received a Recognition Award from the NEA's Grant Recognition Program.

The Town of Florence has implemented a portion of the urban street tree program outlined in
the preservation study. Following ex-Governor McFarland's donation of the First Pinal County
Courthouse (F1-15) to the Arizona State Parks Board in 1974, the Board restored the building
as a public museum, dedicating it in 1978 as McFarland Historical State Park. State Historic
Markers have recently been placed on both the Chapel of the Gila (F1-51) and on the site of
thg 1869 Ruggles House (F1-95). With the personal support and continuing involvement of
Arizona's Governor Bruce Babbitt, a campaign was initiated in 1980 to raise private sector
funds for the stabilization and rehabilitation of the Chapel of the Gila (F1-51) for adaptive
use as a Senior Citizens' Center; the campaign has raised nearly $10,000 to date. The

private sector has also rehabilitated a number of historic properties in the district, in-
cluding the Clum/Guild/McFarland Residence (F1-12), the J. B. Michea Residence (F1-47), and
the Cqsgrove/Nlcho1as/Agui1ar Residence (F1-34). A one-day Walking Tour of the district,
organized in March, 1980 and co-sponsored by the Florence Women's Club, the Industrial De-
velopment Authority, and the Chamber of Commerce, attracted over 400 visitors; it is hoped

(continued)
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that the Tour will become an annual event. The Town of Florence has been most helpful in

the process of collecting data on individual buildings during the survey for this nomination.
In addition, as part of a community improvement project, the town is considering preserva-
tion as the primary method of renovating and redeveloping Florence's Main Street area. The
Florence Industrial Development Authority is also sponsoring the preparation of an historic
Zoning Ordinance and a rehabilitation assistance fund program.

Criteria for District Boundaries

The boundaries of the district have been chosen to include an area containing the highest
density of significant structures, while excluding vacant or unimproved properties which
separate the district from other historic buildings. Boundaries have also been selected
to exclude areas containing only archaeological sites along district boundaries. These
criteria have led to selection of a set of boundaries which define a district which coin-
cides with what is informally accepted locally as Florence's most historic area.

Intrusive Elements

Among the structures inventoried in this district, only eight have been identified as in-
trusions. Two of these are mobile homes located along the extreme northwest perimeter of
the district, while the remainder are in the southern tier. The overall effect of these

elements is negligible in the overall context of the district.

Comparison with Similar Areas in Arizona

Florence Townsite Historic District is one of the very few urban areas in Arizona which
still retains a significant proportion of streets and buildings representative of the
region's original Hispanic or Anglo-Hispanic origins. It also exemplifies those Anglo-
American architectural styles and urban patterns typical of the Tatter part of the 19th
and early 20th centuries. The closest comparisons in Arizona are probably the Barrio
Libre and Armory Park historic neighborhoods of Tucson (both on the National Register).
An important distinction is that in these Tucson districts, a single cultural pattern
predominates (Anglo-American in Armory Park, Hispanic in Barrio Libre), while Florence's
Townsite District integrates both traditions.

Criteria for Evaluation of Structures

The criteria which were used in the evaluation of structures within the Florence Townsite
Historic District are as follows:

SIGNIFICANT: Structures at least fifty years of age that add to the district's sense of
time, place, and historical development by virtue of their location, design, setting, site
emplacement, materials, workmanship, feeling, historic association, and integrity (or
potential for recovery of integrity). Specifically, these structures must bear particular
historical, architectural, archaeological, or cultural importance to the district's sense
of time, place, and historical development. Example: Chapel of the Gila/St. Theresa's
Academy (F1-51).

(continued)



NPS Form 10-900-a OMB No. 1024-0018
(3-82) Exp. 10-31-84

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Inventory—Nomination Form

Continuation sheet ltem number 8 Page 12

CONTRIBUTING: Structures that add to the district's sense of time, place, and historical
development by virtue of their age, location, design, site emplacement, materials, work-
manship, feeling, historical association, and integrity (or potential for recovery of
integrity). Example: Chin Foo & Chin Wing Building (F1-69).

NEUTRAL: Structures that do not meet the criteria for "significant" or "contributing",
yet are compatible in terms of location, scale, setting, site emplacement, materials,
feeling, workmanship, and historical association with structures in the district that do
meet the criteria. Example: Biff's Cafe (F1-118).

INTRUSION: Structures that detract from the district's sense of time, place, and historical
development in terms of Tocation, scale, design, setting, site emplacement, materials,
feeling, workmanship, and association, or structures in which the integrity of the original
design, architectural features, or spaces has been irretrievably lost. Example: Rieffer
Mobile Home (F1-138).
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ARIZONA  STATE HISTORIC PROPERTY INVENTORY__

ROPERTY NAME McFarland Historical State Park [
Archives & Restroom Building i Neutral

OCATION Fact side of Granite Street between *ECURRENT PHOTOGRAPH

F1-140

Chase Ditch & Ruggles Avenue
CITY/TOWN/VICINITY OUNTY

Florence Pinal d
UWNER

Arizona State Parks
(OWNER'S ADDRESS

1688 W. Adams Street
Phoenix, AZ 85007

7

FORM COMPLETED RY
Harris J. Sobin, AIA

ADDRESS

6550 N. Skyway Road
Tucson, AZ 85718

HOTO BY DATE
Harris J. Sobin, AIA April 1981

V EY?
Q?gh Southwest

[PRESENT USE ... ) ) ACREACE
Historic archives and
16,120 SF

ublic restrooms
STYLE OR CUL
Contemporary

SIGNIFICANT DATES
Built in 1981 :

HYSICAL DESCRIPTION A detached two-story archives building with a one story restroom
wing, built with setbacks of more than 10 ft on all sides from the parcel's property
lines and/or adjacent structures. Approximate overall dimensions: main archives building
(west portion), 33 ft wide (E-W) by 30 ft deep (N-S) by 17 ft high; toilet/mechanical
wing (east portion), 18 ft wide by 18 ft deep by 9 ft high. Archives building: exposed
concrete slump block exterior wall construction, with hollow-core precast concrete deck
roof, centrally drained, and 3 cosmetic "canales" installed on the parapet wall of the

west facade. Toilet/mechanical wing: mortar-washed smooth face concrete block exterior
walls and frame raof deck :

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE The purpose of this structure is to house the archives of ex-
Governor McFarland plus work space for scholarly access, together with toilet facilities.
The west wing is intended according to State Parks, as a "reconstruction of an 1880's
territorial adobe residence”, paralleling the style, dimensions and siting of the 1883,
Sonoran style Doran residence (F1-97). The structure constitutes an integral part of
McFarland Historical State Park.

ERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION ,
Assessor's Parcel No. 200-41-003

A11 of Block 67, Townsite of Florence. F1-140 is located on the Northwest quarter
(approx.) of this parcel; it shares the same parcel with F1-15 and F1-97. The North
quarter (approx.) of F1-140 overlaps the South fraction of F1-97 (site).

Zoning: R3




ARIZONA STATE HISTORIC PROPERTY INVENTORY

gmmPERTY NEME i

eorge A. Brown Residence /Rental House - Sianificant F1-1
LOCATION ICURRENT PHOTOGRAPH

NE corner, Willow St. & Ruggles Ave.

CITY/TOWN/VICINITY COURTY

Florence Pinal

W BR

Lynn & Billie Early
OWNER'S ADDRESS

Box 792
Florence, AZ 85232

FORY COMPLETED RY
Harris J. Sobin, AIA
IADDRESS

6550 N. Skyway Road
Tucson, AZ 85718

s
vy

P=0OTO BY IDATE :
Dale Frens iJune 1978 4
IR »
%%m Northeast (
[PRECERT USE BCREACE ||
Residence 17688 SF
i

SIYLE OR CULTURAL PERICOO T
onoran,transformed to Early Transitional

SIGNIFICANT DATES West portion built ca. mid-
1870s:transformed to Early Transitional 1888

JPHYSICAL DESCRIPTION A single story detached dwelling, built with north and west facades
directly on the Ruggles Avenue and Willow Street property lines respectively, and setback
of more than 10ft. from nearby structures on the south and east sides. Approximate
building dimensions: 25ft wide (E-W) by 59ft deep (N-S). MWest half is original early
structure, while east half is a later addition. For original portion, exterior walls

are stucco on adobe (north half) or stucco on wood frame and horizontal sheathing (south
half). Wood shingles, and more recently, corrugated metal, covered a later gabled frame
roof structure over original Sonoran northwest portion, with its round-log supported

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE According to local tradition, this house was occupied for some
years by George A. Brown, Florence's first Wells Fargo agent (from 1877 to 1903), a much
respected Tocal figure and investor in mines and real estate. Brown acquired all of
Block 77 in 1888, but there is evidence that he actually Tived for a time (possibly as

a renter) in F1-3, where he also maintained the town's Wells Fargo Office for some years.
Brown is responsible for adding the pitched, shingled roof over the northwest corner of
this building cluster in 1888. This Tatter portion of the complex is a good example of
a transformed Sonoran structure. Rather extensively remodelled over the last 30 years,

NERBAL BUUNDARi DESCRIPTION
State Code #200-41-015

West half of Block 77, Townsite of Florence, F1-1 is located on the north half of this
parcel. ‘

Zoning: R3




PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (continued) F1-1

earth roofing. The monopitch timber roof structure on the original southwest portion
of the building (which appears to have been a partly open, wood-framed carriage
house/stable) was recently reroofed in corrugated metal on a wood-framed gently-
pitched gable roof.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

this has included the blocking up of some windows on the west side of the building,
which now appear as "blind" rectangular openings. The remodelling has also included

the addition of an enclosed porch on the southeast corner. Despite these changes,

the building retains to a good degree its original overall integrity of form, especially
as seen from the northwest, reinforced by its corner siting.
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PrUPERTY NANE }é |
i
George A. Brown Shed 5 Significant 4 F1-1A
LOCATION ' CURRENT PHOTOGRAPH
NE corner, Willow St. & Ruggles Ave.

CTTY/TOWN/VICINITY QUNTY
EF{orénce / SO

W
Lynn & Billie Early
YWNER'S ADDRESS

Box 792
Florence, AZ 85232

FORM COMPLETED BY
Harris J. Sobin, AIA
ADDRESS

6550 N. Skyway Road
Tucson, AZ 85718

PHOTC BY DATE
Dale H. Frens iJune 1978

f

.
VIEW ﬁ;

]

|

Front facade, from North :

PRECENT Uor TACREAGE
Storage ‘ ;7688 SF |
STYLE OR CULTURAL PERIOD
Sonoran

SIGNIFICANT DATES
circa mid-1870s

IPHYSICAL DESCRIFTION A single story shed or outbuilding. built with a setback of about 5
feet from the adjacent structure to the east, and setbacks of 10 feet or more on the
other three sides. Approximate building dimensions: 17 ft wide (E-W) by 14 ft deep (N-S).
Exterior walls: stucco on adobe, on a possible rubble stone foundation. Corrugated
metal covers a later timber-framed flat roof over original flat earth roof supported by
round-log beams and sahuaro rib deck.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE Tpig ¢mall building was probably constructed as an outbuilding
or storage facility for F1-1. It is one of the few Sonoran structures in Florence to
have received a new, more waterproof Anglo-style second roof in a monopitch form, i.e.
something other than a gable or a hip. In consequence. it preserves the starkly cubical
or boxlike exterior profile of its original Sonoran tradition of building. The original
wood door trim on the north facade appears to still be intact. On the interior, the
original round log vigas (beams) are visible. The building has generally been well
maintained. F1-1A is ancillary to F1-1, the Brown Residence/Rental Hosue.

VERBAL FROUNDARY DESCRIPTION
State Code #200-41-015

West half of Block 77, Townsite of Florence. F1-2 is located on the south half of this
parcel.

Zoning: R3




LARIZO\!A STATE HISTORIC ?%OPERT Y INVENTORY___

NAME 15t E.N. Fish & Co. Store/lst Posﬁ

Significant . !F1-3

Office/Georqe A. Brown Residence & Office x
TOCATION West side of Quartz St. between CURRENT PHOTOGRAPH

Ruggles Ave. & 6th St.

CITY/TOWN/VICINITY COUNTY

Florence v ' Pinal

iR
Elfreida Tuttleberg
OWNER'S ADDRES

Box 908
Florence, AZ 85232

FORY, COMPLETED BY
Harris J. Sobin, AIA
ADDRESS

6550 N. Skyway Road
Tucson, AZ 85718

PL0TO BY DATE -
Harris J. Sobin, AIA Sep 1979 HE
VIEW
From Northwest
PRECENT Uen ’ RCREACE.

Residence ! 7688 SF i
STYLE OR CULTURAL PERTOD Sonoran transformed tol
Early Transitional, and Early Transitional

SIGNIFICANT DATES Ny: ca. 1867-68; NE: ca. 1868
1870, E: ca. 1878: W: 20th century.

PUYSTCAL DESCRIFTION

Single story (and now multifamily) dwelling complex U-shaped in plan. Overall dimension:
approximately 75 ft (E-W) by 125 ft (N-S), built with its north, east and south facades
on Ruggles Avenue, Quartz and 6th Streets property lines respectively, and its west
facade on a mid- b]ock property line shared with F1-1 and F1-2. Exterior walls, Phases
A, B & C: stucco on adobe; Phase D, stucco on wood frame or concrete block. The complex
was constructed in at least four d1st1nct phases: Phase A (northwest portion), built
ca. 1867-1868, originally Sonoran, transformed to E arly Transitional in 1888 by additio
of wood-shingled (later corrugated metal) timber-framed aable roof. approximately 30 ft
STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

‘Among its various components, this complex of structures contains what are probably the
oldest structures still standing in Florence. Despite a lack of clear documentary
evidence (e.g., recorded deeds or tax records), the available evidence sugaests that

the Ruggles-Ewing partnership sold Block 77 to the Tucson mercantile firm of E.N. Fish

& Co. 1in 1868. Fish & Co., with Joseph Collingwood as partner and local resident
manager appears to have first built a store plus living quarters for Collingwood in
Phase A, a small Sonoran style structure. The regional agricultural boom, which the
firm helped to create, gathered force. In less than a year, Fish and Co111ngwood found
VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

State Code #200-41-016

East half of Block 77, Townsite of Florence, plus westerly 30 ft. of Quartz St.
adjacent on the east.

Zoning: R3




PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (continued) F1-3

wide by 15 to 40 ft deep; Phase B (northeast portion), built ca. 1868-1870, Early
Transitional, with wood shinaled (later corrugated metal) timber-framed gable roof
with louvered gable-end vents; approximately 30 ft wide (E-W) by 22 ft deep (N-S);
Phase C (east portion), built ca. 1878, originally Sonoran, transformed in 1888 to
Early Transitional by addition of wood-shingled timber-framed cable roof and a later
monopitch or lean-to porch (eventually enclosed); approximately 65 ft wide (N-S)

by 25 ft deep (E-W); Phase D (west and south portion), 20th century additions,
mainly for utility purposes. These are in two locations: one of which forms the
west side of a Tong narrow patio space. the other forms new porches on the east side.
Landscaping includes mature mesquite trees located on east side exterior, and within
the patio.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

they needed more space, and decided to build a larger store. Phase B was probably
this store, built, according to an 1870 newspaper account. by Levi Ruggles. Starting
in August 1869, it was also the location of Florence's first U.S. Post Office.
Collingwood was first (acting) Postmaster, and was later officially appointed to fill
the position. The store moved to (the present-day) Main Street in 1874 on completion
of the much larger second E. N. Fish & Co. Store (F1-25), and Collingwood also moved
on completion of his impressive 1878 2-story house (site: F1-98). In 1888 (after
possibly having been a tenant for some time in F1-3), George A. Brown acquired Block
77 from Collingwood's widow, for use both as a residence and, later, as the second
location of Wells Fargo in Florence. An upstate New York native, Brown had opened
the first Wells Fargo office in Florence in 1877 in F1-25. While continuing as their
local agent for a record 27 years, he was also a successful investor in minina, real
estate, a local ice-making business, and co-owner of the town's second paper, The
Enterprise. Phase C housed the San Carlos Hotel rooms into the 1920s. Phase B is
presently used as private residence, Phase A and C as rental apartments.




ARIZONA  STATE HISTORIC PROPERTY INVENTORY__

PROPERTY NAME
John G. Keating Residence Significant F1-4

T.OCATION CURRENT PEOTOGRAPH
1100 Willow Street
CITY/TOWN/VICINITY COURTY
Florence Pinal

BTN
Eleanor L. Blackler
OWNER'S ADDPF

Box 547
Florence, AZ 85232

FORY, COMPLETED BY
Harris J. Sob1n, AIA

ADDRESS

6550 N. Skyway Rbad
Tucson, AZ 85718

PLOTO BY DATE

Dale H. Frens June 1978

VIEW ' '

From Southeast

PRECENT LSE ACREAGE

‘Residence 14,200 SF
i

STYLE OR CULTURAL PENIOD
Late Transitional
STGNIFICANT DATES

Built in 1888

@
RN Yooy ot

PHYSTCAL DESCRIFTION

A single story detached dwelling built with setbacks greater than 10 ft. from all
property lines. Approximate building dimensions: 45 ft. wide by 75 ft. deep. Exterior
walls: stucco on adobe. Asphalt shingles replace original wood shingles on the wood-
framed truncated hip (or mansard) roof. An original metal rooftop cresting around the
edges of the mansard is gone. A “Bunga]dw style flat-roofed wood porch with supporting
piers and solid railing faced in river-run stone, replaces original frame hip-roofed
porch supported by slender turned wood posts. W1re fencing above an exposed smooth

TATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

John G. Keating, an early day stage driver and afterwards proprietor of the Tunnel
Saloon on Main Street, scene of the much-discussed Gabriel-Phy gunfight, later became
a successfulreal estate entrepreneur, Captain of the local company of the National
Guard and politician. He served as a member of the 23rd Territorial Legislature,

Pinal County Board of Supervisors and Florence Town Council, and as the town's Mayor
from 1918 to 1922. Despite several minor external modifications, this = residential
structure retains its basic integrity, and stands as a good example of the symmetrical,

Wgyram1da11y roofed, Anglo-inspired "Late Transitional" style, complete with large
FREAL BOURDARY DESCRIPTION

Lots 1 and 2, Block 1, Western Addition to Florence

Assessor's Parcel No. 200-44-044

Zoning: Rl




PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (continued) | F1-4

face concrete block curbing replaces original wood picket fence. Junipers have
replaced original chinaberry trees as "entry markers" on either side of the front
walkway.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

setbacks on all sides and peripheral landscapina. The building has been carefully
maintained and is today in excellent condition.



ARIZONA - STATE HISTORIC PROPERTY INVENTORY__

POUPERLY NAME 1

Women's Club of Florence Building % Significant F1-5
LOCATION CURRENT PHOTOGRAPH

NE coner of Willow & 10th Streets :

CITY/TOWN/VICINITY . COUNTY

Florence Pinal

LWL

Women's Club of Florence

OWNER'S ADDRES

c/o R. N. McGehee
Box 886 :
Florence, AZ 85232
FORYM COMPLETED &Y
Harris J. Sobin, AIA

L\UDQ £ES

6550 N. Skyway Road
Tucson, AZ 85718

PS0TO BY DATE g
Harris J. Sobin, AIA Sep. 1979 %
VIEW %2
Front facade from Southwest ;

PERCLNT Ton ACREAGE ;‘
Club house & Senior Citizens'Centeri 16,260 SF i

i

STYLE OR CULTURAL FERIOUD
Spanish Colonial Revival

TR |

IPHYSTCAL DESCRIPTION

A single story detached clubhouse. The principal volume of this building is a rectangle
plan, with asmall kitchen wing attached to its northwest corner. Built with its south
facade on the 10th Street property line, the building has full (more than 10 ft.) set-
backs from the other three property lines. Approximate dimensions of the main structure
are 39 ft. wide (N-S), by 87 ft. deep (E-W), with the kitchen wing 19 ft. (N-S) by

16 ft. (E-W). The exterior walls are stucco on adobe; an outside chimney located near
the center of the main structure's south wall projects well above the eave-line. The

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Headquarters for one of Florence's leading civic organizations, and the only instance
within the district of “Spanish Colonial Revival style of architecture, this structure
is also a good exampl he -work of what was considered at the time the leading archi-
tectural firm in Arizonaj:Lescher & Mahoney (successors to Lescher & Kibbey), of

Phoenix. This firm designed 3 other district structures (F1-19, F1-20, F1-21) as well as
Florence Union High School. After drawings were prepared in 1928, construction (by
Arizona State Prison inmates) was completed in 1929. Typical Spanish Colonial Revival

UERBAT BOURNDARY DESCRIPTION
Assessor's Parcel No. 200-44-024

A11 of Block 3, Nheat's Addition to the Town of Florence

Zoning: R2




PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (continued) F1-5

entrance is protected by a tile-roofed porch surrounded by a row of elliptically
shaped arches. Between triangular gable-end parapets, corrugated metal roofing
covers a gabled wood roof structure. This consists of a wood deck on purlins
supported by a serijes of king-post trusses which span the full 39 ft. width of the
main "multipurpose space" The roof structure is completely exposed on the interior.
An ornate, Spanish-style fireplace is located in the middle of the south wall. A
small office plus toilet rooms are Tocated at the west end of this principal volume.
~The original suspended Tight fixtures are still in place. - The building has been
well maintained since its opening, thus does not require restoration.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

features include the red tiled porch, the arcaded entrance, the outside chimney,

the exposed, relatively large span timber structure, and in general a sort of pictur-
esque nostalgia. This building is perhaps the best example in Florence of the revival
of regional/Hispanic consciousness in Arizona which took place in the period 1910-

1930, wusually however based on imported styles and fashions from outside Arizona.

The Women's Club, which began as the Village Improvement Club in 1900, has a long
tradition of civic service to the town. The building is currently rented on a part-
time basis to the local Senior Citizens' Council, who use it for serving noon-time meals
and recreational activities.



ARIZONA STATE HISTORIC PROPERTY INVENTORY___

PUOPERTY NAMNE ] i L. *

Fred E. White Residence { Significant F1-6
}

LOCATION CURRENT PHOTOGRAPH

1108 Willow Street

CITY/TOWN/VICINITY COUNTY

Florence Pinal

LN K
H. C. & Lorraine A. Schewel as J/T
OWNER'S ADDRES

Box 666
Florence, AZ 85232

FORM COMPLETED RY
Harris J. Sobin, AIA
ADDRESS

6550 N. Skyway Road
Tucson, AZ 85718

AN

t
P+0T0 BY IDATE }
Dale H. Frens =~ jJune 1978 %
VIEW i
Ergm»§ou§h§ast' i — ‘%
PRESENT USE JACREAGE i
Residence 116,427 SF |

STYLE OR CULTURAL PERICD

American Victorian

SIGNIFICANT DATES
Built ca. 1892

{PHYSTCAL DESCRIFTION

A single story detached dwelling, L-shaped in plan (exclusive of porch addition, north-
east side of building), built with setbacks from property lines of about 2 ft. on the
north, and substantially more than 10 ft. on all other sides. Approximate building
dimensions: 35 ft. wide by 42 ft. deep. Exterior walls: exposed brick (recently painted),
with door and window openings formed with seamental arches. At the top of the parapet
wall is a final course consisting of a slightly corbelled-out header course, creating
with the simplest of means the effect of a shadowed cornice line or cap-course. Rolled

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

This is a good example of American-Victorian domestic architecture. Building features
typically associated with the Victorian style include its fired brick exterior bearing
walls with segmental arches, the tall, narrow proportions of door and window openings

and the building's overall assymetry of mass. What is not typically found in an American
Victorian house is the flat roof and parapet wall. This type of configuration was at

the time more typically reserved for use on commercial blocks located in a "business
district", and gives this small house a somewhat industrial appearance. The building

ERBAL ROURNDARY DESURIPTION
Assessor's Parcel No. 200-44-046

South half of Lot, plus all of Lots 5 & 6, Block 1, Western Addition to Florence.

Zoning: R2




PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (continued) F1-6

asphalt roofing on a.wood-framed flat roof structure. Asphalt shingles replace the
original wood shingles on the front porch roof. A Tlater frame, clapboard clad shed has
been added on north side. Palms have replaced original close-spaced chinaberry shade
trees in the front and side yards.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

is in a well-maintained condition. Frederick E. White was a well-known Florence
businessman, co-owner of the town's first iceplant, as well as founder and general
manager of Arizona Cactus Company, Inc., producers of "cactus novelties" (Tamps,
pictures frames, etc., made from cholla and other types of cactus).



ARIZONA STATE HISTORIC PROPERTY INVENTORY__

PLOPERTY NAME T

Emma Guild Residence Significant L F1-7
LOCATION CURRENT PHOTOGRAPH

1107 Willow Street

CITY/TOWN/VICINITY COUNTY

Florence Pinal

TR

D. B. & J. Crawford
OWNER'S ADDRESS

Box 95
Florence, AZ 85232

FORY COMPLETED BY
Harris J. Sobin, AIA
ADDRESS

6550 N. Skyway Road
Tucson, AZ 85718

H

HOTO BY DATE
Harris J. Sobin, AIA :Sep. 1979

i

]

TEw 5

¥ront facade from West ﬁ
PRECENT LGF !ACREACE %-

ig

gi

|

Residence §6875 SF
STYLE OR CULTURAL PERICD
Bungalow

SIGNIFICANT DATES
Built in 1908

IPHYSICAL DESCRIPTION

A single story detached dwelling, rectangular in plan, built with its south facade

on the corresponding property line and with setbacks of more than 10 ft. on its other
three sides. Approximate building dimensions: 35 ft. wide by 60 ft. deep. Exterior
walls: Tocally-made sand-struck brick. Door and window openings formed using 2-ring
segmental arches. Asphalt-shingle covered wood-framed gable roof, with diamond-shaped
attic vent grilles on front (west) gable-end. A deep porch framed in timber spans across
two square brick piers and protects the entrance facade. Front door with single fixed

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

This small house appears to be the first example of the Bungalow style to be built in
the district or town. With its deeply cantilevered eaves on all sides, full-width

porch and unconcealed and expressive celebration of the spanning possibilities of the
relatively new, lightweight type of wood truss construction, it represents the beginning
of modernism in the Southwest, and the end of obligatory borrowing from forms or styles
of the past. For decades to come, this type of structure was to provide many Southwest
families of average means with the equivalent, in housing, of Henry Ford's Model 'T!

VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIFPTION

Assessor's Parcel No. 200-44-026

South 50 ft. of Block 26, Wheat's Addition to the Town of Florence, plus 5 ft. adjacent
on the South. F1-7 is located on the western three-fifth (approx.) of this parcel; it

shares the same parcel with F1-56.
Zoning: R2




PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (continued) F1-7

oval light. Typical small Bungalow style floor plan, with 1iving room, dining and
kitchen down one long side; an indoor bathroom separates two bedrooms down the other
long side. An original screened-in wood frame sleeping porch is located across the
rear width of the house. :

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

car: ideally a lowcost, mass-produced unit of reliable performance yet within nearly
everyone's economic reach. Note: the Model 'T' was first produced in 1908, the same
year this small house was constructed!

Emma Monk Guild was the second wife of William E. Guild, telegraph operator, organizer
of the Silver King and Florence Telegraph Companies, a director of the Silver King
Mining Company, and town Postmaster (F1-12). The second Mrs. Guild was a teacher at
Florence. She also served as principal of the town's elementary school for several
years, until the Guilds moved to Tucson; the couple later returned to Florence.



ARIZONA  STATE HISTORIC PROPERTY INVENTORY__

TLOPERTY NAME ? |

Emma Guild Residence Stable/Garage g Contributing i F1-7A
LOCATION 1107 Willow Street (rear); CURRENT PHOTOGRAPH ‘

West side of Quartz bet 10th & 12th Streets ‘

CITY/TOWN/VICINITY COUNTY

Florence Pinal

YA

Douglas B. & Juanita Crawford as J/T
OWNER'S ADDRESS

Box 95
Florence, AZ 85232

TORM COMPLETED RY
Harris J. Sobin, AIA

ADDRESS

6550 N. Skyway Road
Tucson, AZ 85718

TH0T0 BY DATE F
Harris J. Sobin, AIA Sept 1979 %
VIEW i
From Southeast E
PREGENT USE ACREAGE
Storage 6875 SF

i
STYLE OR CULTURAL PERIOD i

Early 20th Century Utilitarian
SIGNIFICANT DATES
Built ca. 1908 i

IPHYSICAL DESCRIPTION A single story stable/garage, approximately square shaped in plan,
built with its front (east) entrance facade on the parcel's Quartz Street property line.
Approximate building dimensions: 25 ft wide (N-S) by 22 ft deep (E-W). Exterior walls:
"box" construction, utilizing dimensioned board-and-batten timber. Roof: rolled asphalt
probably over original wood shingles, covering a gable plus adjacent flat-roof Teanto
dimensioned timber roof. The (possibly later) leanto portion forming the northern half
of this structure is open at its east and west ends.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE Tpig modest utility structure, built to serve the 1908 Emma
Guild Bungalow (F1-7), appears to be the last extant private stable/carriage house within
the district. The fact that it utilizes early "box"-type construction, and has a roof
pitch matching almost exactly the gable angle of the main house, suggest that it was buil
at the same time or soon after F1-7, placing its construction date just prior to any wide
spread appearance of the automobile in Arizona. With the end of the horse and buggy era,
structures such as this one continued to prove useful as garages for as long as automo-
biles remained modestly scaled.

TRBAL BOURDARY DESCRIPTION

Assessor's Parcel No. 200-44-026

South 50 ft of Block 26, Wheat's Addition to the Town of Florence, plus 5 ft adjacent on
the South. F1-56 is located on the Eastern two-fifths (approx.) of this parcel; it share
the same parcel with F1-7.

Zoning: RZ




ARIZONA STATE HISTORIC PROPERTY INVENTORY__

PrOFERTY NAVE *5
i
i

‘ i
F. G. Hardwick Residence Significant % F1-8

CURRENT PHOTOGRAPH

LOCATION

1208 North Willow Street
CITY/TOWN/VICINITY COUNTY
Florence Pinal
£ W B

ETlizabeth A. King

OWNER'S ADDRZSS

Box 577
Florence, AZ 85232

FORM COMPLETED RY
Harris J. Sobin, AIA
ADDRESS

6550 N. Skyway Road
Tucson, AZ 85718 , i

PEOTO BY IDATE

Dale H. Frens WJune 1978

VIEW

Front facade from East

PRECENT UGE TACREACE i
. . . i

Multi-family residence 110,800 SF

STYLE OR CULTURAL PERICD

American Victorian

SIGNIFICANT DATES L
Built in 1890-91 é{

IPHYSTCAL DESCRIPTION .

A two story detached dwelling, L-shaped in plan, built with its north facade on the
corresponding property line, and setbacks of substantially more than 10 ft. on its other
sides. Approximate overall building dimensions: 41 ft. wide by 37 ft. deep. Exterior
walls: locally-made sand-struck brick. Door and window openings formed using 2-ring
segmental arches, with a bracketed timber hood over the (original) front door. Asphalt
shingles replace original wood shingles covering a wood-framed hip roof. Once a single-
family house, the building was divided into four apartment units, two per floor, at a

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

By turn of century standards in Florence, this house was indeed an "imposina brick
residence", as the local paper called it while under construction. It boasted an
elegant interior stair complete with banister, connecting the two floors.. Axially
symmetrical front elevations, such as seen here, are atypical in American-Victorian
domestic architecture. The more usual unbalanced type of composition 1is only utilized
on the less formal rear side of this structure. Frederick G. Harwick was a partner of
ID. C. Stevens (residence site: F1-98) in a turn of the century Tivery stable business

|
|
—
i

VERBAL BUUNDARY DESCRIPTION
Assessor's Parcel No. 200-44-070

Lot 3 and part of Lot 2, Block 4, Western Addition to Florence.

Zoning: R2




PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (continued) : F1-8

later date. This included converting the original front door into a window, two
front windows into doors, and adding steel stairs at either end of the house for..
access to second floor units. Also added were various interior partitions. enclosing
timber balconies at the rear, and a peripheral cemented water-table, or apron, about
three feet high, to protect lower portions of exterior walls against rain and
capillary moisture.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

on Main Street (Jjust north of F1-18). Harwick was also a blacksmith, with his shop
in the back yard of this residence.



| ARIZONA STATE HISTORIC PROPERTY INVENTORY

PLUPERLY NAME T ,
Giovannina Young Residence Significant tF1-9
LOCATION CURRENT PHOTOGRAPH '
iNortheast corner of Willow & 12th Streets ;

CITY/TOWN/VICINITY COUNTY

Florence Pinal

IR

Evangeline Perham Banfield
OWNER'S ADDRESS

c¢/o K.L. Danielson
'1§Q?,039 Grande

Yuba - City, CA 95991

FORY COMPLETED BY

Harris J. Sobin, AIA
ADDRESS ‘ i

6550 N. Skyway Road i
Tucson,. AZ 85718 it

PHOTO BY gDATE ﬁ' ,
Dale H. Frens tJune 1978 ho
VIEW

Side facade from South

PRESENT USE ACREALT
Residence %1,250, SF
STYLE OR CULTURAL PERICD

Late Transitional, with Bungalow influence

SIGNIFICANT DATES
Built ca. 1917-18 gg

PUYSTCAL DESCRIFTION

A single story detached dwelling, rectangular in plan. built with setbacks of 10 ft. or
more from all four property lines. Approximate building dimensions: 43 ft. wide (N-S)

by 57 ft. deep (E-W). Exterior walls: stucco on adobe. Wood-shingle covered timber-
framed hip roof. An open porch, located under the western end of the main roof, protects
the main entrance facade. The porch is supported by a row of four stuccoed (brick?)
piers, and has a narrow tongue-and-aroove painted wood ceiling. Simple 1"x6" painted
exterior and interior casings surround door and window openings which also still have

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Giovaninna Young Residence is a good example of the influence of imported architect-
ural "styles" (in this case the Bungalow Style) on Tocal vernacular building traditions.
Stylistically, most of the predominating features of this house are associated with the
Late Transitional tradition (full setbacks, adobe walls, hip roof, a symmetrical plan).
However, the full-width entrance veranda, which provides an "outdoor-indoor" Tiving
space facing the street,clearly reflects the influence of the Bungalow Style, than about
midway through the period of its local development and use when this house was built.
Giovannina Young was a daughter of Benedetto Carminatti, an Italian-born immigrant who

VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

Assessok's Parcel No. 200-44-034A

South 90 ft of Black 31, Wheat's Addition to the Town of Florence.

Zoning: R2




PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (continued) F1-9

original wood-framed insect screens. The house plan is based on a straightforward
center-hall layout, with an open sleeping porch across the rear (east) end of the
house.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

arrived in Florence in 1894 to assist on his father-in-law's nearby vegetable farm.
Frank Carminatti. a son of Benedetto, and expert carpenter, framer and contractor.
built this house as well as many other structures in Florence. The present owper,
occupant-owner Mrs. Annetta Carminatti Perham, is another of Benedetto's daughters.



ARIZONA STATE HISTORIC PROPERTY INVENTORY__

THUPERLY NAME i
Roderick Ross/Fryer-Cushman Residence . Significant I F1-10
LOCATION ) CURRENT PEOTOGRAPH

West side of Granite bet. 6th & 8th Streets
CTTY /TOWN/VICINITY kovﬁfY
Florence i Pinal

LW NI

Donald & P. Young

OWNER'S ADDRESS

Box 693
Florence, AZ 85232

-
=

FORM COMPLETED RBY
Harris J. Sobin, AIA

ADDRESS

6550 N. Skyway Road
Tucson, AZ 85718

FHOTO BY IDATE
Dale H. Frens iJune 1978

‘Fom Northeast |
[PRECENT USE ACREACE  |i
Residence ;13,248 SF i
STYLE OR CULTURAL PERIOD ]
Sonoran, Transformed to Early Transitional
SIGNIFICANT DATES

Built ca. 1876-77;transformed bet. 1899 & 1910
PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION

A single story detached dwelling, rectanqular in plan. built with the south facade on

the (original) south property line of Block 106, its north facade on the north property
line, and its east (front) facade set-back about 3 ft. from the original (east) Granite
Street property line (prior to the town's narrowing of the street from 60 ft. to 20 fts).
Approximate building dimensions are 62 ft. wide (N-S) by 50 Ft. deep (E-W). Exterior

walls are stucco on adobe. Wood shingles cover a timber-framed gable roof structure
above an original earth roof over a sahuaro rib deck on round log beams. Wo0d shingles

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The architectural significance of this early Sonoran Style building chiefly resides in
the fact that it retains what is probably the most intact example of a flat Sonoran
mud roof in the district, perfectly preserved by the later addition of an Anglo-Style
gable roof above the original one. This transformation left no tell-tale horizontal
Tine or crack visible in the exterior to mark the line of an original fired brick cap
course or parapet. However, the characteristic "rollino topography" of the original
mud roof is still visible in the attic, along with the original circular-shape flat

WERBAL BUUNDARY DESURIPTION

Assessor's Parcel No. 200-41-024

i South half, Block 106, Townsite of Florence, plus 20 ft. adjacent on the East, plus
30 ft. by 145 ft. adjacent on the South.

Zoning: R3



PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (continued) ' F1-10

cover a timber-framed hip-roof veranda on the east (entry) side of the house, with its
outside edge supported on a row of turned wood posts. The building is presently sub-
divided into several apartment units. In good condition today, with much of its original
trim and roofing (type) intact, this building requires only modest effort for restor-
ation.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

metal pans just inside the original parapet top at the low end of each "valley" in

the earth roof. These pans were shaped to collect rainwater and conduct it through
the canales (rain-spouts) quickly, thus safely, off the roof. Roderick Ross, one of
the town's first blacksmiths, who came to Florence about 1875, probably built this
structure in 1876, but did not stay long, selling it in 1877 to W. C. Smith. By 1877,
the building was owned by Casa Grande hotelier Jere Fryer and his wife, the celebrated
former Union woman spy, Pauline Cushman. Later owners included L. K. Drais. also an
owner of the nearby Florence Hotel (F1-16). Movie star cowboy Tom Mix was a tenant in
this building in the 1930s. The structure still serves as rental apartments today.



ARIZONA  STATE HISTORIC PROPERTY INVENTORY___,

PHOPRRTY NAME ¢

Charles Rapp Residence | Significant ! F1-11

ok @

LOCATION CURRENT PHOTOGRAPH
Northwest corner of Granite & 8th Streets —

CITY/TOWN/VICINITY COUNTY
Florence Pinal

LW i g
William C. & Ann Beck as J/T
OWNER'S ADDRESS

Box 661
Florence, AZ 85232

FORY COMPLETED AY
Harris J. Sobin, AIA
ADDRESS

6550 N. Skyway Road
Tucson, AZ 85718

*H0TC BY §DATE i
Dale H. Frens | June 1978 ?v
VIEW E’
From Northeast ,
PRECENT LoF ¥AGREAGE é
Residence . 20,770 SF

SEYLT RS Cooriorat transtormed to Early Transit.
W. wing: Early Transitional

SIGNIFICANT DATES

E. part buit ca. 1882; W. part built ca. 1890

1L

IPHYSTICAL DESCRIPTION ,

A single story dwelling, L-shaped in plan, built in two phases with its east and south
facades on the parcel's original Granite and 8th Street property lines respectively,

its west wall on the (later) west property line and its north wall with a substantial
setback from the corresponding property line. The building's east wing is approximately
30 ft. wide (N-S, along Granite St.) by 17 ft. deep (E-W); 1its north wing approximately
16 ft. wide (N-S) by 33 ft. long (E-W). Separated by a 3 ft. gap. these two stuccoed
adobe wings are connected by a frame "link" about 9 ft. deep (N-S) by 20 ft. long (E-W).

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

This complex contains very good examples of both a -transformed Sonoran rowhouse (east
wing) and an Early Transitional building (north wing). Both portions have retained
intact their architectural integrity to an exceptisnally significant degree. The east
wing contains fine coniferous round-log beams with sahuaro rib decking (costillas).
This roof structure has been exposed on the interior. of the south room of that wing by
the recent removal of a later lower ceiling. In the southwest corner of the same room
is a good example of the typical Sonoran tradition corner fireplace. Inside the west

NVERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION
Assessor's Parcel No. 200-44-003

A11 of Block 122, Townsite of Florence, plus 30 ft. adjacent on the North, plus 20 ft.
adjacent on the East.

Zoning: R2




PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (continued) F1-11

The building was constructed in at least 3 distinct phases: Phase A, (circa. 1882)
originally a Sonoran "corner rowhouse" with its street facades on Granite and 8th
Streets and with a flat earth roof on sahuaro costillas (ribs) supported by round Tog
beams of coniferous wood (as opposed to the more frequently seen cottonwood). Between
1911 and 1915, the southern wing of the early L-shaped rowhouse was removed, leaving
only the Granite St. portion. Phase B, (between 1890 and 1898), a free-standing,
Early Transitional structure, and present north wing of the building, was originally
built in the patio space of the earlier Sonoran corner rowhouse. This new structure
had wood shingles covering a wood-framed gable roof on adobe walls. Later metal roofing
replaces the original wood shingles. Phase C (between 1915 and 1941) a wood frame
"shed", with walls of horizontal wood cladding and monopitch roof covered with rocked
asphalt, was built to Tlink the earlier west and north adobe wings. The building is
being rehabilitated by its current preservation-minded owners.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

wing, which has always lacked a ceiling, the original balloon-framing of the gable
roof is readily seen spanning between adobe walls. Most of the structure's original
interior wood trim, doors, and windows are intact. Based on the chain of title, the
house appears to have been built by Charles Rapp in 1882 or 1883. Rapp, a miner,
originally from Chicago, arrived in Florence in 1875, and for some years Kept-a saloon
nearby on Main Street (F1-26). More often than not, unmarried Anglo men who settled
in Florence during the town's first decade of existence married Mexican or Mexican-
American women. Rapp was no exception: the 1880 census shows him by then married

to Sonoran-born Candida Rapp.



ARIZONA STATE HISTORIC PROPERTY INVENTORY___

PHOPERTY NANE ; ;
John P. Clum/William Guild Residence i Significant § F1-12
TOCATION CURRENT PHOTOCRAPH ‘
Southeast corner Quartz & 10th Streets
CITY/TOWN/VICINITY COUNTY
Florence Pinal

N

N
E.W. & E.E. McFarland
OWNER'S ADDRESS

306 West Royal Palms Road
Phoenix, AZ 85000

FORM COMPLETED BY

Harris-Jd. Sobin, AIA

ADDRESS

6550 N. Skyway Road
Tucson, AZ 85718

PHOTO BY : DATE

Dale H. Frens %June 1978
VIEW

From Northeast
PREGENT UOF ACREACE |l

Residence 122,630 SF
i

STYLE OR CULTURAL PERIOD
Late Transitional

SIGNIFICANT DATES
Built in 1878,remodeled in 1884;rehab'd,1975
HYSICAL DESCRIPTION

This building is a single story detached dwelling, initially square in plan, built with
full (more than 10ft) setbacks from all four property 1ines. The building’s approximate
dimensions (excluding later small additions at rear) are 47 ft wide by 50 ft deep. The
exterior walls are stucco on adobe. Standing-seam iron roofing which probably replaced
original wood shingles, covers a wood-framed truncated pyramidal, or mansard type roof
structure. The floor plan is based on a simple "four-square" room layout, with some
interior partitions of plaster on wood studs. Most of the building's original interior

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE
This building is the first late Transitional style structure which has been identified

in Florence, and represents an excellent local example of this hybrid mode of building.
Built by John P. Clum, flamboyant Indian agent, editor and publisher of Florence's first
newspaper, The Arizona Citizen (1877-78), founder and editor of the Tombstone Epitash
(1880) ,Tefie'stone’s first mayor, and later a chief postal inpector, this building appears
to have housed the Citizen's office and press as well as its publisher/editor during the
year both spent in Florence. A later owner, electrical engineer William Guild, built the
telegraph Tine from the Silver King Mine, northeast of Florence, to Casa Grande and the

7ERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

Ai] of Block 27, Wheat's Addition to Florence, plus 30 ft adjacent on the South, plus
20 ft by 155 ft adjacent on the East.

Assessor's Parcel No. 200-44-028




PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (continued)

finishes are intact, including its flooring, transoms, doors, casement-style full
height windows, wood trim and an elegant marble fireplace. The house has recently
been rehabilitated by its present owner, ex-Governor Ernest McFarland.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

outside world; Guild was also an early Florence postmaster (1880-1885). Typical
Late Transitional mode features of this residence include full setbacks from all
four property lines, a deep, square plan, a pyramidal mansard timber-framed roof,
adobe walls, and sophisticated wood detailing and trim. These features all sugaest
a possible influence of the architecture of Army installations in Arizona with which
Clum would have been quite familiar. Regardless of its exact stylistic source, the
Clum Residence remains a clear reminder of the greatly accelerated influx of Anglo-
American settlers in central Arizona of the 1870s and 80s, and the architectural
ideas from the East and California which they brought with them.



ARIZONA STATE HISTORIC PROPERTY INVENTORY___

OPBRLIY NAME 3% t
R. C. Brown/Louis Michea Residence Significant | F1-13
LOCATION 116 12th Street; CURRENT PROTOGRAPH '
northwest corner Granite & 12th Streets :
CTTY/TOWN/VICINITY COUNTY g
Florence Pinal
Lo g

William C. & Ann Beck as J/T
OWNER'S ADDRES

Box 661
Florence, AZ 85232

FORM COMPLETED RY
Harris J. Sobin, AIA
ADDRESS

6550 N. Skyway Road
Tucson, AZ 85718

SIGNIFICANT DATES Ca. 1878 (original) transf'd
bet. 1899 & 1910; additions ca. 1912

PHYSTCAL DESCRIPTION

A single story dwelling, L-shaped in plan, built with full (more than 10 ft) setbacks
from all four property lines. Approximate overall building dimensions: 50 ft wide
(E-W) by 45 ft deep (N-S). Exterior walls: stucco on adobe (original structure);
painted brick and wood siding on frame (later addition). Between 1899 and 1910, a
wood-shingled, timber-framed, multi-gabled roof was installed above (or substituted
for) the original wood-supported earth roofing. A wood-shingled, timber-framed
veranda was added to the east and south sides between 1912 arid 1914, probably by then-

P=0TO BY . DATE |
Harris J. Sobin, AIA | Sept 1979 ?
VIEW é
From Southeast !
PREC LN UsE FCREAﬁE
Residence 13,775 " SF
i
STYLE OR CULTURAL FERIOD Sonoran, transformed
to Early Transitional;Amer.Vict. additions g

STATEMENT OF STIGNIFICANCE

While a good example of transformed Sonoran architecture, this structure is equally
significant because all available evidence suggests that it was constructed  as a
residence by Rollin C. Brown, co-owner with Clum of Florence's first newspaper. the
Arizona Weekly Citizen, durlnq the Citizen's year (1877-1878) in Florence, and after-
wards when Clum and Brown moved it back to Tucson. As was so often the case for many
people in 19th century American small towns, Brown's work was close to his home. The
Citizen's office and press were located in Clum's residence at the time the next

R ERBAT BOUNDARY DESTRIPTTON
Assessor's Parcel No. 200-44-033

A11 of Block 30, Wheat's Addition to the Town of Florence; exc1ud1ng the 30 ft adjacent
on the North, p]us 20 ft adJacent on the East. v

Zoning: - R3



" PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (continued) F1-13

owner Louis Michea. Though presently in rather run-down condition, the building is
definitely restorable.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

building north (F1-12). A decade later. Brown became co-editor of Florence's second
paper, the Arizona Enterprise (1887-1894), prior to his 1894 move to Globe Despite
the typical Sonoran feature oY its adobe. wallifig the =iting~of this-housey: with Bull
setbacks on all sides (as with Clum's residence) is more typical of Anglo-American
suburban traditions. This fact reinforces the Tikelihood that Brown was responsible
for the construction of F1-13, thus providing Florence with a rare example of the
Sonoran mode combined with a typically American-Victorian mode of site emplacement.




‘ARIZONA STATE HISTORIC PROPERTY INVENTORY__

ROPERTY NAME

William Jenn1ngs Residence Significant F1-14
OCATION CURRENT PHOTOGRAPH

406 South Main Street
CITY/TOWN/VICINITY COUNTY

Florence Pinal
UWNER
Willie & Ozje Smith as J/T

OWNER'S ADDRESS

Box 1139
Florence, AZ 85232

FORM COMPLETED BY
Harris J. Sobin, AIA

IADDRESS

6550 N. Skyway Road ‘ |
Tucson, AZ 85718 ‘

FlCTa By - T T T IDATE
Dale H. Frens June 1978

VIEW

From Southeast v
JPRESENT USE ACREAGE
Residence 14,740 SF
STYLE OR CULTURAL PERIOD

Early Transitional

SIGNIFICANT DATES
Built ca. 1878 (original building);later addit.

FHYSICAL DESCRIPTION

A single story detached dwelling, rectangu]ar in plan. built with its front (east)

facade on the Main Street property line, and substantial setbacks (more than 10 ft)

on the other sides. Approximate building dimensions, including later additions: 72 ft
wide by 27 ft deep. The exterior walls are stucco on adobe. Corrugated metal roofing
covers a timber-framed gable roof structure. On the south and west sides of the building,
standing-seam metal roofing covers an attached timber-framed hip roofed porch supported
by timber posts. There is a high (approximately 3 ft) slightly projecting water table or

il

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

This is a good example of the Early Transitional mode of building, combining Sonoran
siting, walling and floor plan with Anglo roofing, detailing, and trim. William Jennings,
a native of Ireland and naturalized U.S. citizen, was first recorded as a Florence
resident on the 1880 census, with his occupation Tisted as "miner”. In an early litho-
graph of the first courthouse, (in E1liott's History of Arizona) the Jennings' house is
seen in the background looking very Sonoran, complete with flat-topped parapet wall and

a veranda on the west side (though usually accurate, Elliott's lithographs can at times

TRBAL BUOURDARY DESTRIPTION
Assessor's Parcel No. 200-41-001

East 87 ft of Block 38, Townsite of Florence.

Zoning: R3




PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (continued) F1-14

apron on the Tower part of the east wall. Original part of house includes a fireplace
centered in a transverse interior wall.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

be quite fanciful). Further and detailed research would be required to determine if
this structure's gable roof is a later addition, or original. However., its use of an
Anglo-style fireplace centered on a transverse wall tends to confirm its classification
as a Transtitional structure. The integrity of the earliest part of this building's
interior is for the most part very much intact. including doors,  -4yars ard wacawirim.



ARIZONA STATE HISTORIC PROPERTY INVENTORY__

ROPERTY NAME 1st Pinal County Courthouse/ H
McFarland Historical State Park Significant F1-15
LOCATION ] CURRENT PHOTOGRAPH
Northwest corner of Main St. & Ruggles Avenue
CITY/TOWN/VICINITY COUNTY
Florence Pinal
TWNER

Arizona State Parks
OWNER'S ADDRESS

1688 West Adams
Phoenix, AZ 85007

FORM COMPLETED BY
Harris J. Sobin, AIA
ADDRESS

16550 N. Skyway Road
Tycson, AZ 85718

HOTO BY , v DATE

Dale H. Frens ' June 1978 '
VIEW
JFrom Southeast -
[PRESENT USE ACREAGE ||
Museum (Historical State Park) 16,120 SF ’

STYLE OR CULTURAL PERIOD

Early Transitional

SIGNIFICANT DATES pyi1t (E & S): 1877-79; (W):
1883:Hospital Kitchen ca. 1891-98

[PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION

A partly single story and partly two-story governmental buildina, approximately U-shaped
in plan, built with its west (2-story) facade on the (original) Granite Street property
Tine. Its east and south facades are set back approximately 10 ft (a "porch width")

from their respective property Tines along Main and Ruagles. while its north facade has

a substantial (more .than 10 ft) setback from the north property line. The building was -
constructed in at least three distinct phases: Phase A (1877-79), an L-shaped corner
building consisting of east and south wings. The east wing contained the courtroom and

|STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

This structure is significant as the District's finest example of the Early Transitional
Istyle, as well as for multiple associations with state and county history stemming from
its construction and use during the early (and formative) years of Pinal County as the
county's courthouse. In 1877, Levi Ruggles, "Founder of Florence", was instructed to
prepare plans for a new Pinal County Courthouse. Bids were taken, and in November, the
$2700 contract was awarded to Fred Adams and Warren Vernoy. Ruggles laid out the
foundations; construction of this, the earliest part of the building {eastern 3/5ths of

WERBAL BUUNDARY DESCKIPTION
fAssessor's Parcel No. 200-41-003

A11 of Block 67, Townsite of Florence.

Zoning: R3




PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (continued) ' F1-15

clerk's office at its north end. The east wing measures about 25 ft wide (E-W) by

81 ft long (N-S) by 24 ft high overall; the south wing. contained other county
offices and measures about 87 ft long (E-W) by 19 ft wide (N-S), by 24 ft high;

Phase B (1883), a rectangular 2-story west wing, contained a Sheriff's office and jail
(beTow), and two jury deliberation rooms (above). The west wing measures approximately
25 ft wide (E-W) by 43 ft Tong (N-S) by 26 ft high. Phases A & B exterior walls of
stucco on adobe; wood-shingle roof on timber-framed gabled roof structures. Phase C:
(between 1891 and 1898) a small brick-walled wing added to the west side of the clerk's
office, probably the kitchen which became a necessity when the building became Pinal
County Hospital (1892). Shingle-roofed, timber-framed, wood-floored porches on the
west side of Phase B (porch built in 1883), and on the south and east sides of Phase A
(porches added circa 1904; a part of the south porch was later enclosed). F1-15 has
been restored (1975-1978) by Arizona State Parks and opened to the public as the
McFarlsnd State Historical Park. The interior of the building retains intact much of
its original trim and finish carpentry. Landscaping includes a chinaberry tree in the
courtyard and a restoration by the Town (1976) of the chinaberry row which originally
stood alongside the building's Main Street porch.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

present structure), was completed by 1879. County business was expanding, and more room
was soon needed. In early 1882, the $1659 contract for a new 2-story jail and Sheriff's
office was awarded to Charles Tillman (residence: F1-53). The west wing (western 2/5ths
of present structure) was completed in 1883. Used as a courthouse until 1891, as county
hospital from 1892 to about 1930. as county welfare and public health center until 1963,
as a combination Pinal County Historical Society and boarding home for elderly county
dependents until sold to a private sector owner in 1970, and later purchased by ex-Go-
vernor Ernest McFarland, who presented it to the Arizona State Parks Board for restor-
ation. This building is 1isted on the National Register.



ARIZONA STATE HISTORIC PROPERTY INVENTORY__

ROPERTY . NAME 1
Silver King Hotel/Florence Hotel :

Significant F1-16

LOCATION Block bounded by Ruggles Avenue, Main JJICURRENT PHOTOGRAPH
Granite & 6th Streets. ’

CITY/TOWN/VICINITY OUNTY
Florence Pinal
OWNER

Western American Communities, Inc.
IOWNER'S ADDRESS

301 E. Virginia Ave. -
Suite 4100

Phoenix, AZ 85004
FORM COMPLETED BY

Harris J. Sobin, AIA
ADDRESS

6550 N. Skyway Road
Tucson, AZ 85718

[PHOTO BY DATE
Dale H. Frens une 1978
VIEW

From Southeast

[PRESENT USE ACREAGE
Vacant - commercial 17,856 SF

STYLE OR CULIURAL PERIOD
Early Transitional, American Victorian

SIGNIFICANT DATES
Built ca. 1876, 1888, 1895 & 1917

[PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION ‘

A partly one story and partly two story hotel structure, built with all street facades
directly on the property lines of the block the hotel occupies. The hotel was built in
four phases. Phase A (south central portion), built in 1876, Early Transitional, one
story, originally an L-shaped corner building along east and south sides of block; sur-
viving segment is approximately 18 ft wide (N-S) by 45 ft long (E-W) by 24 ft high overall.
[Exterior walls: adobe, originally exposed, later stuccoed. Wood-shingles cover a wood-
framed gable roof structure. The southeast corner of Phase A, containing hotel's original
dining room and bar, was destroyed by fire in 1894. Phase B (free standing structure on
STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The significance of this hotel lies not only in its fascinating "mix" of architectural
styles and building dates, but also in the high degree of quality and integrity of those
portions of its fabric which survive. In addition. this building complex constituted

for many years the social focus of Florence, providing not only "modern" overnight

lodging for visitors but also operating the finest dining room in the town. The original
E?1ver King Hotel, Phase A, was built by William Long, a co-discoverer of the Silver King |

i

ine-in the year after the partners' great "find". The Early Transitional gable-roofed

ERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTIOR
Assessor's Parcel No. 200-41-018

A11 of Block 79, Townsite of Florence, plus the 20 ft adjacent on the west.

Zoning: B2




PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (continued) F1-16

north side of block plus attached wing on west end of south side of block), built in
-1888; north portion Early Transitional, one story, approximately 21 ft wide (N-S) by
51 ft long (E-W), stuccoed adobe walls. wood shingles covering a gabled frame roof
structure; south portion Sonoran. one story. approximately 27 ft wide (N-S) by 68 ft
Tong (E-W) (exclusive of balconies or porches), stuccoed adobe walls, earth roof;
Phase C (new structure along east side of block. replacing fire loss), built in 1895,
American-Victorian, two story, approximately 28 ft wide (E-W) by 87 ft long (N-S) by
30 ft high (exclusive of arcades) plus a kitchen wing at north end measuring approx-
imately 18 ft wide (E-W) by 14 ft long (N-S) by 15 ft high, all with walls of local
sand-struck brick, and rolled asphalt roofing covering flat timber roof structure:
Phase C housed an office, dining room, kitchen, bar and hotel rooms; Phase D, built
in 1917, Early 20th Century Utilitarian, constituting a new 2nd floor of brick over a
portion of Phase B at the southwest corner of block, plus a new 2-story adobe portion
along the west side of block, with rolled asphalt roofing covering flat timber roof
structures. Phase D contained additional hotel rooms. The building is at present vacant,
well-secured, and awaiting a planned restoration.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

~ adobe was a mirror-image of the Second E. N. Fish Store (F1-25) which had been built
directly across Main Street to the east. The surviving portion of the original Silver
King Hotel still has most of its floors, ceilings and interior trim intact. By 1890,

the Silver King Mine had closed and F1-16 was renamed the Florence Hotel. Phase C,

its brick east wing, built in 1895 to replace portions of the hotel destroyed by fire

the year before, is of particular interest, with its ornate brick cornice and tall,
narrowly proportioned segmentally-arched door and window openings. The later construction
of an elegant one story frame arcade on two sides of Phase C shaded the "new" block's
south and east board-walks and first floor facades. as well as providing extra "dormitory"
space on its balcony during overflow periods. :



B

ARIZONA - STATE HISTORIC PROPERTY INVENTORY__

PROPERTY NAME ? {

C e . .o !

Commercial Building i Significant | F1-17
[ i

LOCATION CURRENT PHOTOGRADH
700 Main St., southwest coner 6th & Main Sts.
CITY/TOWN/VICINITY COUNTY
I orehd / Pinal
IR

Charles & Virginia McLellan as J/T
OWNER'S ADDRESS

Box 307
Tonto Basin, AZ 85553

FORY COMPLETED BY
Harris J. Sobin, AIA
ADDRESS

6550 N. Skyway Road
Tucson, AZ 85718

PLOTO BY DATE
Dale H. Frens [June 1978

S

e
rom Northeast
[PRECENT USE ACREACE 1!

Commercial i e 2800 SF
STYLE OR CULTURAL PERIOD

Sonoran _
SIGNIFICANT DATES ﬁ

Built ca. 1889
PPUYSTCAL DESCRIPTION

This is a single story commercial building, rectangular in plan, built with north, south
and east (Main Street) facades on their respective property lines. Approximate building
dimensions are 20 ft wide (N-S) by 70 ft deep (E-W). Exterior walls are of stucco on
adobe, with a single corbelled brick cap course, alo stuccoed. Rolled asphalt covers a
timber-framed flat roof structure over original earth roofing over a sahuaro rib deck

on round log beams. Wood shingles cover a later timber-framed sidewalk arcade, the
outer edge of which is supported by a row of four round log posts topped with simplified

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

This Main Street structure has housed a multitude of varied uses, including the Charles
Hardy saloon (1890-98), a grocery store (1915), a pharmacy (ca. 1918), a real estate
office and the office and printing plant of the Arizona Blade~Tribune (from ca. 1920
to 1945). It currently is used as a chiropractor's office. The adjacent open space
to the south was once Brown and Murphy's corral, later Stevens and Hardwick's bustling
Tivery stable and stage office. Today the space is a parking lot for the supermarket

in F1-18. Despite various minor alterations (porch, fenestration), F1-17 remains an

ERBAL BOUNDARY DESTRIPTION

Assessor's Parcel No. 200-41-019

North 82 ft of Block 105, Townsite of Florence, plus 20 ft adjacent on the west.

Zoning: B2

3



PHYSICAL‘DESCRIPTION (continued) . | F1-17

timber bracket capitals. Although the windows on Main Street and a few windows on the
side elevations represent later alterations, most side windows and the front door
(with original side lights and transom) are intact or nearly so. The building requires
only a modest effort to restore to original condition.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

excellent example of the pure flat-roofed, zero-setback Sonoran mode of building, its
geometric simplicity unmodified by any later hipped or gabled Anglo roof “improvements”.



ARIZONA - STATE HISTORIC PROPERTY INVENTORY__

PRUPERLY NAME g i
W.C. Smith & Co. Bldg./Florence Commercial - Significant (F1-18

TOCATION 710 Main Street; west side of Main CURRENT PHOTOGRAPH
between 6th & 8th Streets.

SR

CITY/TOWN/VICINITY COUNTY
Florence Pinal
i

Fred D. Gentry
CWNER'S ADDRESS

P. 0. Box W
Florence, AZ 85232

FORY COMPLETED BY
Harris J. Sobin, AIA
IADDRESS

6550 N. Skyway Road
Tucson, AZ 85718

;s
|
!
i

T0TO BY IDATE

Dale H. Frens June 1978
VIEW

From Northeast

[PRKESEN: USE ACREAGE |
Commercial - Florence Market : ;6720 SF i

STYLE OR CULTURAL PERIOD jnars onVictorian/
High Victorian Italianate(original bldg front)

SIGNIFICANT DATES '
Built in 1890; 2nd story burned in 1948 iR

IPPHYSICAL DESCRIPTION

This deep relatively tall one-story commercial block originally consisted of two sections
of differing height: a two-story eastern half on Main Street, and a one-story western
half on Granite Street. A 1948 fire destroyed the second floor portion, reducing the
structure to its present one-story height. The building is rectangular in plan, built
with its south facade on the (original) 7th Street property line, and its east, north
and west facades on their respective property lines. Approximate building dimensions

are 43 ft wide, 145 ft deep. and 22 ft high (present condition: original 2-story

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

ThiSbw]dingg significance rests on both architectural qualities and historical associ-
ations. This large American-Victorian brick commercial block was designed by Phoenix
architect James M. Creighton, probably Arizona Territory's first architect (Creighton
also designed the Second Pinal County Courthouse of 1891). When details of its cons-
truction were first announced, Florence's newspaper editor announced that the new W.C.
Smith & Co. Building was to be "an ornament to the place”. In fact the building's
qualities succeeded admirably in expressing the local feeling of exhuberance and high

ol
]

KERBAT, BOURDARY DESCRIPTION
Assessor's Parcel No. 200-41-021

1South 43 ft of Block 105, Townsite of Florence, plus 20 ft adjacent on the West pJus 8 ft
by 55 ft adjacent on the South, plus 8 ft by 20 ft adjacent on the West.

Zoning: B2




PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (continued) : F1-18

section stood approximately 40 ft high to the highest point of its pedimented cornice).
The side and rear exterior walls are of locally-made sand-struck brick. The front

facade on Main Street, fabricated by Mesker Bros., St. Louis, originally of pressed
metal, cast iron, wood and glass has been altered by the 1948 fire damage and subsequent
use of large areas of stucco on frame, plus a recent cantilevered sidewalk canopy of
aluminum. Rolled asphalt roofing covers a timber-framed gable roof. Interior spans are
reduced by a 1ine of Tuscan-style cast iron columns (also Mesker) placed on the long
center-axis of the building. Two large rectangular steel-framed skylights help illum-
inate an interior corridor in the rear half of the building. With a carefully-researched
effort based on manufacturer's catalogs and early photos, this building could be restored
to near-original condition. Though the second floor and upper half of the street facade
are gone, they are reconstructable, the integrity of the ground floor and basement
interiors is basically intact, and the original Queen Anne Style glass "window wall"
shopfront is safely in storage.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

aspiration which were excited by the canal boom of the late 1880s. A particularly
American-Victorian characteristic of the desian is Creighton's extensive use of pre-
fabricated building components, including the ornate original front facade, interior
columns building cornice and window caps. all manufactured in St. Louis by "Mesker
Bros. Front Builders", shipped by rail to Casa Grande, and freighted across the desert
to Florence for final on-site assembly. In addition, the building's location, bulk
and height made it for many years the major focal point on Main Street for travelers
arriving in Florence. The building was designed for William Cairnes Smith, Scottish-
- born Casa Grande businessman who opened the second Florence branch of his general

merchandise operation here in 1890. Later. the building housed the Shields and Price
(later the Price and Powell) Florence Commercial General Store. An old time resident
recalled that you could buy everything there "from a needle to a freight wagon". The
second floor was used as quarters for the Tocal A.0.U.W Lodge. Despite loss of the
upper story by fire (1948), the ground floor continues in use today as one-half of a
supermarket (the other half is in F1-58).



ARIZONA  STATE HISTORIC PROPERTY INVENTORY

PRUPERTY HAME

Keating Building (north portion) i Significant F1-19
LOCATION CURRENT PHOTOGRAPH

Main St. between 6th & 8th Streets

CITY/TOWN/VICINITY COUNTY

Florence Pinal

LW

Mike ‘& Rebecca Encinas
OWNER'S ADDRESS

Box 815
Florence, AZ 85232

FORM COMPLETED BY

Harris J. Sobin, AIA
ADDRESS

A -

e o

6550 N. Skyway Road
Tucson, AZ 85718

PHOTO BY DATE
Harris J. Sobin, AIA Sept 1979
VIEW

From Southeast ' 1
PEESENT U%E ACREAGE
Commercial - Barber Shop 14975 SF

i
Commercial/Neo-Classical Revival i

SIGNIFICANT DATES
Built in 1916
PHYSTICAL DESCRIPTION
This property constitutes the northern 17.5 ft of a single story "commercial block”, the
Keating Building. F1-19 is rectangular in plan, built with its north and east (Main
Street) facades on their respective property lines. and sharing a party wall with the
remainder of the "block" to the south. Approximate dimensions of F1-19 are 17.5 wide

by 38 ft deep by 22 ft high (parapet). Exterior walls are pressed buff-colored brick,
painted since 1973. The lower portion of the north facade has a nonoriginal stucco
finish. The Main Street front of F1-19 is a continuation, in materials, style, and

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

This property is the northern portion of one of the district's finest exemplars of the
Neo-Classical Revival style. It is also an early sample of the work of what was con-
sidered at the time to be the state's Teading architectural firm, Lescher & Kibbey of
Phoenix. Both portions of this building (F1-19 & F1-20) were constructed in 1916 for
John F. Keating (residence: F1-4). From opening day, this northern part of the building
pwas used as a barbershop. operated for some years by Miguel 'Mike' Ramirez. Its desian
features mark it a typical example of the Tate Neo-Classical Revival style (often des-
cribed as "Early 20th Century Commercial” if the structure is_a store or office buildi
VERBAL B 4 > T

Assessor's Parcel No. 200-44-007

»

North 17 ft by 145 ft of the Southern 46.5 ft of Block 123, Townsite of Florence.

Zoning: B2




PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (continued) F1-19

overall design, of the facade of the next property South (F1-20). Among shared design
features are a large glazed shopfront, prism-glass transoms and a simple, stripped form of
Classical ornamentation, including a stylized entablature and cornice, formed with pro-
jecting bands of dark brown pressed brick. Asphalt roofing covers a timber-framed

flat roof behind parapet walls. Alterations in the Main Street facade inciude removal

of prism glass from the large transom 1light over the shopfront, replacement of the wood
shopfront sill with stuccoed masonry, and the addition of a cantilevered sidewalk

"metal awning" braced by metal tension rods to the parapet. The building is in good
condition, and is readily restorable with only a relatively modest outlay.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

The Neo-Classical Revival Style was initially popularized by its extensive appearance
- at the Columbian Exposition of 1893 in Chicago.



ARIZONA STATE HISTORIC PROPERTY !N\/E!\P[OR\{___J

PRUPERLY NAME 0

Keating Building (south portion) ; Significant F1-20
LOCATION 822 Main St. ‘ CURRENT PHOTOGRAPH

Northwest corner of Main & 8th Street

CITY/TOWN/VICINITY COUNTY

Florence Pinal

NS

Cletus E. Ball
CWNER'S ADDRESS

Box 968
Florence, AZ 85232

FORM COMPLETED BY
Harris J. Sobin, AIA

ADDRESS

6550 N. Skyway Road
Tucson, AZ 85718

FLOT0 BY DATE .
Harris J. Sobin, AIA %Sept 1979 g
VIEW !é'
From Southeast %
PRECENT USn JACREACE |
Vacant - former Drugstore 31768 SF

STYLE OR CULTURAL PERTOD an\]y zoth Centuy\y
Commercial/Neo-Classical Revival

SIGNIFICANT DATES
Built in 1916

IPHYSTCAL DESCRIPTION

Th1s property constitutes the southern 46.5 ft of the Keating Building, a single story
"commercial block" (for other portion, see F1-19). F1-20 is rectangular in plan, built
with south and east facades on its 8th and Main Street property lines respectively, and
sharing a party wall with the remainder of the commercial block to the north. Approx-
imate building dimensions of F1-20 are 46.5 ft wide by 70 ft deep by 22 ft high (parapet).
Exterior walls are of exposed pressed brick in two colors: a light buff for plain wall
surfaces and a dark brown for decorative cornice,drip course and signage panel borders.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

This property is the southern portion of the Keating Building, one of the district's

best exemplars of the later phase of the Neo-Classical Revival or "Early 20th Century
Commercial" style. The pedimented parapet along Main Street represents a clear allusion
to the classical design sources of both F1-19 and 20. while also emphasizing F1-20's urban
corner location. F1-20 is also part of one of only two buildings in the district (F1-21
is the other) designed by the Teading architectural firm in Arizona of the first decades
of the 20th century. Lescher & Kibbey.of Phoenix. Together with F1-19, the property was
constructed in 1916 for .John F. Keating (residence: F1-4). For the first few years,
KERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

Assessor's Parcel No. 200-44-008

South 46.5 ft of Block 123, Townsite of Florence, plus 20 ft adjacent on the West,
excluding the North 17 ft by 145 ft of Block 123.

Zoning: B2




PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (continued) F1-20

The Tower portion of the shopfront (east facade plus the eastern part of south facade)
has a nonoriginal stucco finish. The Main Street front of F1-20 is a continuation, in
materials, style and overall design of the facade of the next property north (F1-19).
Shared design features include a large glazed shopfront, prism-glass transom and a
stripped form of Classic ornamentation, includina a stylized entablature and cornice.

A special feature of F1-20 not shared by F1-19 js its gently-sloped pedimented parapet
top along Main Street. Rolled asphalt roofing covers a timber-framed low pitched gable
roof behind parapet walls. An original fixed prism-glass transom with operatina vents,
still relatively intact, surmounts the formerly-glazed shopfront. A cantilevered
"metal awning" protects both Main and 8th Street sidewalks, braced to the parapet by
metal tension rods. The interior has a pressed metal ceilina. The building is well
secured, in good repair, and readily restorable with only minimal exterior shopfront
work, paint removal and interior rehabilitation.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

this southern corner portion of the building was leased to Juan Aguilar's "The People's
Store". Thereafter, it was leased as a drugstore to a succession of lessees: Vernon
Brothers, Griffin & McFaul, Murray's and Nick's; still Tlater leased to the State
Highway Dept., before falling vacant for the past decade.



ARIZONA  STATE HISTORIC PROPERTY INVENTORY__

KUPERTY NAME  The popylar Store/ !
Mandell's Department Store Significant F1-21
LOCATION CURRENT PHOTOGRAPH

900 Main Street ;
ISouthwest corner of Main & 8th Streets
CITY/TOWN/VICINITY COUNTY

Florence Pinal
WK

Marjorie M. Mandell
OWNER'S ADDRESS

3611 N. 5th Avenue
Phoenix, AZ 85013

FORYM COMPLETED BY
Harris J. Sobin, AIA
IADDRESS

6550 N. Skyway Road
Tucson, AZ 85718

{PHOTO BY DATE %
Dale H. Frens June 1978 |
VTEW i
From Northeast &.
[PRECENT UGE ACREAGE g
Commercial 0945 SF

STYLE OR CULTURAL PERTOD

20th Century Commercial/Neo-Classical Revival

SIGNIFICANT DATES
Built in 1915

HYSICAL DESCRIPTION

single story commercial building, rectangular in plan, built with its north and east
acades on the parcel's 8th and Main Streets property Tines respectively, Tie south
all of F1-21 is a party wall shared with the adjoining structure (F1-22) immediately
djacent to the south. Approximate building dimensions are 41.5 ft wide (N-S) by 85 ft
eep by 22 ft maximum height. Building facades on Main Street and the east portion of 8th
treet, are of exposed pressed brick of a light buff color. Elsewhere, exterior walls

re of common red brick. The Main Street facade design includes a vestigial corbelled
ETAIEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

ith its simplified classical features, including a vestigial pediment, a stylized
entablature and axially symmetric planning, this structure is an excellent example of
Lhe later phase of the Neo-Classical Revival style as applied to a small commercial
puilding. The structure is one of Florence's few exemplars of this style. It is also
pne of only two examples in the district of the work of what was considered the leading
architectural firm in Arizona during the period 1915-1930, Lescher & Kibbey of Phoenix.
his building was built in 1915 for C. G. Powel1's "“The Popular Store", which advertized

VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

Assessor's Parcel No. 206w44-009

North of 41 ft of Block 149, Townsite of Florence, plus the 20 ft adjacent on the West.

Zoning: B2




PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (continued) ' o ' F1-21

entablature and pediment, a one-course projecting "cornice" and three recessed panels

for signage, all executed in 1ight buff brick. Opaque, stuccoed panels on the building's
Main and 8th Streets facades denote the original location of vented, prism-glass transoms.
The glazed "show window" shopfront incorporates a central glass “"island" type display
case. A cantilevered "metal awning" was added over the Main Street sidewalk soon after
the building's construction, and was braced by metal tie-rods from the parapet. This
awning was later replaced with a wood-shingle roofed timber-framed intrusive "Western
Style" sidewalk arcade. supported on rough round log posts and bracket capitals. The
opaque lower portions of the front facade still retain their original ornamental surface
treatment of black and green glazed tiles. The interior of F1-21 retains its original
wood trim and flooring, a pressed metal ceiling, and even some of the oriainal cabinet-
work and display counters. Both exterior and interior are in an excellent state of
repair, and would require only a modest outlay for complete restoration.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

themselves as "specialists in ready-to-wear clothing"”. Powell, former manager of
Florence Commercial Company (F1-18), later served for a time as warden of the State
Penitentiary. 'In 1919, F1-21 was sold to Harry Mandell, a Casa Grande merchant. He
and later his son, Kay Mandell, have operated the Mandell Department Store at this
same location for over 60 years.



;
Co./Pinal Lumber & Hardware Co. Building Significant ?1-22

JLOCATION 1406 Main Street; :CURRENT PHOTOGRAPH
ilest side of Main bet. 8th & 10 Streets

CTITY/TOWN/VICINITY COUNTY

iFlorence Pinal

VYRER Kenneth & Betty Jean Lucas as J/T;
Frank G. & Connie M. Ormsby as J/T.
OWNER'S ADDRESS

Box 808
Florence, AZ 85232

FORY COMPLETED BY

Harris J. Sobin. AIA
ADDRESS

6550 N. Skyway Road
Tucson, AZ 85718

i
{P=0OTC BY IDATE 5
Dale H. Frens i June 1978 f
VIEW §
From Northeast
DRECLNT Lok JACREAGE
Commercial 111,890 SF

i

STYLE OR CULTURAL PERICD
Early 20th Century

Commercial/Neo-Classical Revival
SIGNIFICANT DATES

Built in 1914
{PHYSTCAL DESCRIPTION
Single story commercial structure, built with front facade on Main Street property line
and side walls directly on side property lines. Building dimensions are approximately
82 ft wide (N-S) by 100 ft deep (E-W) by 27 ft high. A partial basement measures ap-
proximately 40 ft by 60 ft. Exterior wall on Main Street is exposed pressed brick light
buff in color, elsewhere common red brick. A pressed-metal cornice is attached to the
face of the Main Street parapet wall several feet below a projecting rolok cap course,
and about two feet above a brick string course two courses high. Store front and en-

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The White-McCarthy Building was one of the most important manifestations of the last
major episodes of building activity to take place in Florence's linear Main Street/
Bailey Street "Business District". Its wide-span spaces, tall, expansive storefront,
and carefully detailed Main Street facade, make it a good example of the Early 20th
Century Commercial or Neo-Classical architectural style. H. H. Freeman purchased the
building in 1918, and made the southern 2/3rds of the building headgquarters for his
Pinal Lumber & Hardware Company for over half a century. Today the structure houses a

VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCREIFPTION

Assessor's Parcel No. 200-44-10

North 82 ft of the South 84 ft of Block 149, Townsite of Florence plus adjacent 20 ft
by 82 ft on the West.

Zoning: B2




PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (continued) - F1-22

trance doors have been remodelled. A wood and metal sidewalk canopy (or "metal awning"),
suspended from the parapet wall with metal tie rods, was added after 1941. Metal

roofing covers a flat wood-framed roof. The second bay from the north end of F1-22
originally contained tall double garage-type doors, for loading and deliveries. The
building remains in good condition, and restoration to original integrity is mainly a
matter of store-front rehabilitation.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

hardware business, and in a smaller rental space at its north- end, the office of the
Florence Reminder and Blade-Tribune, the town's weekly newspaper.




- ARIZONA STATE HISTORIC PROPERTY INVENTORY__

PLUPERTY NAME

e

| Significant !F]-ZB

William Clark House

LOCATION CURRENT PEOTOGRAPH
Southwest corner of Main & 10th Streets

CITY/TOWN/VICINITY ICOUNTY

Florence Fina]

OWINER

Gopherbroke Investments Inc.
OWNER 'S ADDRESS

Box 708
Florence, AZ 85232

FORM COMPLETED BY

arris J. Sobin. AIA
ADDRESS

6550 N. Skyway Road
Tucson, AZ 85718

PLOTO BY IDATE

Dale H. Frens June 1978 |
VIEW } g :
Front facade from East

PRECENT USe ACREAGE é
Vacant 111,165 SF §

STYLE OUR CULTURAL PERTICD
Late Transitional

STGNIFICANT DATES
Built 1in 1884

PHYSTCAL DESCRIPTION

This is a two-story detached dwelling, approximately square in plan, built with full
(more than 10 ft) setbacks from all four property lines. Approximate overall dimensions
are 38 ft wide (N-S) by 42 ft deep (E-W) by 26 ft maximum height. Exterior walls
(originally) mud-plastered adobe; the blocks are now mostly exposed due to erosion.

A standing seam sheet iron roof covers a timber-framed truncated hip roof. Wood shingle
roofed, timber-framed bay window and porch are major features on the building's front
facade. The setbacks were originally landscaped with olive trees. some of which are

STATEMENT OF SIGRIFICANCE

This house is the second example of the Late Transitional mode of architecture to be
built in Florence. With its elegantly detailed Anglo-Victorian prefabricated timber
entrance porch and louvered bay window, combined with its Sonoran adobe walls and
“four-square" floor plan, this house is an excellent illustration of the more sophistic-
ated level of cultural fusion in architecture which developed in Central Arizona in the
years immediately following the completion of the Southern Pacific's transcontinental
route in 1883. MWilliam Clark, as a mining engineer for the Silver King Mine, started

ERBAT, BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION ‘

Assessor's Parcel No. 200-44-029A

Block 28, Wheat's Addition to the Town of Florence, plus 2 ft by 125 ft adjacent on the
South, plus 20 ft by 134 ft adjacent on the West, plus 7 ft by 125 ft adjacent on the
North, excluding the South 54 ft of Block 28.

Zoning: B2




PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (continued) , F1-23

still alive. The building is in a relatively poor state of repair and is in need of
prompt roof and wall maintenance to stabilize the structure against further erosion.
Full restoration though not impossible would tend to be feasible only with the help
of a sizeable investment.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

building this house for his bride-to-be and completed it shortly after the wedding.
He used the 2nd floor as an assay office (access was by an exterior timber stair).
Clark was later responsible for a detailed official study of the mineral potential
of Pinal County's various mining districts then developing east of Florence. The
house later served as the residence of Richard E. Sloan, Arizona's last Territorial
Governor.



ARIZONA - STATE HISTORIC PROPERTY INVENTORY__

PHUPERTY NAME - Denier & Richmond, later
Michea & Arballo General Merchandise Store

LOCATION 1218 Main Street;
Northwest corner of Main & 12th Streets.

|
Sianificant | F1-24
CURRENT PHOTOGRAPH

T N T
Sk

CITY/TOWN/VICINITY [COUNTY
Florence I Pinal i
N E R

Eric C. Strube, Jr. & PatriciaSharron as J/T
OWNER'S ADDRESS

Box 707
Florence, AZ 85232

FORM COMPTLETED BY
Harris J. Sobin, AIA

ADDRESS i
6550 N. Skyway Road

Tucson, AZ 85718

PHOTO BY DATE

Dale H. Frens June 1978
VIEW

From Southeast
PRESENT USh ACREA(T. ,
Commercial ; 7250 SF {

STYLE OR CULTURAL FPERIGD Ear]y Transitional g
transf'm'd to Neo-Classical Revival

SIGNIFICANT DATES Built in 1890 (S. 30 ft);ca.
1917-18 (N. 20 ft); transformed ca. 1918

IPHYSTCAL DESCRIFTION

A single story commercial structure in the form of an e]ongated rectanale on plan, built
with its east, south and west facades on the Main, 12th and Granite Street property

Tines respective]y. The building was constructed in two phases: Phase A (the south 30
ft), built in 1890, originally adobe-walled Early Transitional, approximately 30 ft

wide (N-S) by 145 ft long (E-W) by 23 ft high, and Phase B (the north 20 ft), built ca.
1917-1918, approximately 20 ft wide (N-S) by 145 ft Tong (E-W) by 23 ft hiagh. The north,
south and west exterior walls of both phases were originally raw adobe with a tall,

o

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Significant as the location of what was one of the leading business firms in Florence
during late Territorial/early statehood times, the Michea-Arballo Mercantile Company,
this structure also represents a major manifestation of the trend, in the early decades
of the 20th century, toward "transforming” earlier adobe structures (here by use of a
brick veneer) giving them the appearance of more "up-to-date" styles. Adobe structures
were transformed not just for better stability and  waterproofing. but also for increased
cultural acceptability, during a period of growing Anglo-American influence. VWhile this

ERBAL BUUNDARY DESCRIFTLION

Assessor's Parcel No. 200-44-032

South 50 ft of Block 29, Wheat's Addition to the Town of Florence, plus the 20 ft by 50
ft adjacent on the West.

Zoning: B2




PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (continued) F1-24

decorative timber and glass "false front" on the east (Main Street) facade of Phase A,
concealing the gable roof behind. Phase B originally had a sheet metal on frame front.
Later, probably about 1917, a light buff-colored pressed brick exterior veneer was added
to the Main Street facade and 12th Street corner, with common red brick veneer elsewhere.
This remodelling included a new glazed shopfront, and a cantilevered sidewalk "metal
awning", braced to brick piers on the facade, using elegantly-designed "Prairie Style"
doubled metal brackets, and braced to the parapet above with metal tie-rods fitted

with turnbuckles and wall-plates. Main Street parapet wall is topped by a complex
pressed-metal cornice in the form of a classical entablature. Rolled asphalt roofing
covers a wood truss-framed gable roof (Phase A) and a timber-framed flat roof (Phase B).
The interior has sufficient clear height to allow a partial second floor office or
storage balcony at the rear. The building is in good condition, and could be readily
restored or rehabilitated at relatively modest cost.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

buildina in its original (1890) form was a bicultural Transitional style hybrid

(adobe walls, framed gable roof), the later (ca. 1917) addition of a brick exterior
with appropriate detailing,transformed it into an example of the Neo-Classical Revival-
(or Early 20th Century Commercial) style, thus completing its"Americanization! Today,
it is difficult to perceive in F1-24 anything more than a typical American business
block of the 1915-1925 era. The building has housed at least three local mercantile
firms: Denier & Richmond (1890-96), C.R. Michea & Co. (1897-1906), and the Michea-
Arballo Mercantile Co. (1907-ca. 1927). Later it was utilized as the local National
Guard Armory, and still later as the "Florence Five & Ten Store" (ca. 1960). F1-24

is still in use today as a general store.



ARIZONA STATE HISTORIC PROPERTY INVENTORY___

PLOPERTY NaME 'E |

2nd E.N. Fish & Co./Collingwood & Co. Store Significant iF] 25
TOCATION CURRENT PHOTOGRAPH

Block bounded by Main, Bailey, 6th & Ruqq1es
CTITY/TOWN/VICINITY COUNTY

Florence Pinal

Wi K

American Legion Post No. 9

OWNER'S ADDRESS

Box 823
Florence, AZ 85232

FORM COMPLETED, BY
Harris J. Sobin, AIA

JADDRESS

6550 N. Skyway Road
Tucson, AZ 85718

PHOTO BY IDATE
Harris J. Sobin, AIA %Sept 1979
VIRW

From Northwest

PRECENT Lar ACREAGE

American Legion (bar,meeting hall) ! 15,625 SF

A
STYLE OR CULTURAL PLRIUD
Early Transitional

SIGNIFICANT DATES
Built in 1874

IPHYSICAL DESCRIPTION

A single story commercial building, L-shaped in plan, built w1th its north, south and
west street facades on the parcel's Ruggles Avenue, 6th and Main Street: property lines
respectively and with the other sides of the building facing inward toward a courtyard
enclosed by a high adobe wall, which was originally a freight yard/livery stable. The
N-S "west wing" of the "L" (along Main Street) is approximately 36 ft deep (E-W) by

125 ft Tong; the E-W "south wing" is 25 ft deep (N-S) by 62 ft lonag (E-W). Maximum
building height above arade is 24 ft. Exterior walls were originally raw adobe (later
stuccoed)on a rubble stone foundation. Asphalt shingles replace wood shingles as
STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

This is one of the very first examples of the Early Transitional style in Florence. It
is also the second (and last) location of the Florence branch of the prominent Tucson
firm of E. N. Fish & Co. As chief produce buyers, source of supplies and bankers to
the va11ey farmers, this firm was responsible for providing the economic foundation of
the town's early success and extraordinary growth as an agricultural trading center.
Fish & Co. continued to play an important role during the Florence area's mining boom by
extending large scale credit to the Silver King Mine. Thus in many ways, F1-25 cons-

tituted the business heart of Florence during the town's early, formative years. Joseph
VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

Assessor's Parcel No. 200-48-052

A11 of Block 80, Townsite of Florence

Zoning: B2




PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (continued) ' F1-25

covering for a timber-framed multi-gabled roof structure. A fireplace, with fired
brick chimney is centered in one of the West wing's transverse interior walls. The
original elegant exterior wood trim included exterior solid wood four-panel shutters
on some window openings, plus pedimented door and window casings; this trim has been
removed. The building's original four-panel doors and double-hung window sash have
been mostly replaced with modern (and discordant) substitutes including glass block.
Several original window and door openings have recently been blocked up, either partly
or completely. In recognition of its present use as the building's major entrance,
the exterior of one doorway on Main Street has been trimmed with an arched casing of
concrete block.

During the 1870s and 80s, cottonwood street trees watered by an open acequia, thrived
along this structure's Main Street facade. Today the trees are gone except for the
row of young cottonwoods planted along Ruggles Avenue by the town in 1976.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

Collingwood, manager of Fish & Co.'s Florence operation, continued the business on
his own when Fish closed out in 1877. Wells Fargo Express opened its local office
the same year in this building., and located in the second doorway north on the corner
along Main Street. The Silver King Telegraph Co. office was also housed in this
building. At the peak of the Fish/Collingwood firm's activities, frame haylofts (E & N
sides) and a storage cellar (SW corner) were added to the adobe-walled freight yard.
By the late 1890s, the west wing of F1-25 contained hotel rooms and an office, its
south wing a saloon and dining room, and a kitchen and wagon shed were situated in
the courtyard. From early statehood until the mid-1940s the west wing of F1-25
contained a series of "tenement dwellings". Florence's American Legion Post is the
current occupant and owner of the building.



ARIZONA STATE HISTORIC PROPERTY INVENTORY__

PrOPERTY

NAME

Charles Rapp Saloon/lst Tunnel Saloon

N
Iy

Significant

i
i
' F1-26

LOCATION 719 Main Street;
between 6th & 8th Streets.

east side of Main

CURRENT PHOTOGRAPH

CITY/TOWN/VICINITY
Florence

COUNTY
Pinal

W

William A. Roy

OWNER'S ADDRESS

Box 569
Florence, AZ 85232

TORM COMPLETED RY
Harris J. Sobin, AIA

ADDRESS

6550 N. Skyway Road
Tucson, AZ 85718

HOTO BY
Dale H. Frens

DATE
June 1978

!

VIEW
From West

PRECENT UGR
Vacant retail space

ACREAGE
12875 SF

STYLE OR CULTURAL PERICD
Sonoran

STGNIFICANT DATES
Built mid-1870s

FHYSICAL DESCRIPTION

and narrow frontage on Main Street.

Street property lines.
property line.

Originally a "corner building",

A single story commercial bu11d1ng, characterized by a long narrow rectangular plan-form.

this structure's

west and south facades initially were located directly on the parcel's Main and 7th
The building's north facade is on the parcel's corresponding
F1-26 occupies roughly half of the depth of the parcel.
detailed timber-framed arcade. L-shaped on plan and supported on square chamfered wood
posts originally sheltered the building's Main and 7th Street facades but does not

A finely

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Rapp Saloon is by far the most intact of the four remaining untransformed examples
of the adobe-walled, earth-roofed Sonoran tradition which still stand on Main Street:
F1-26 exemplifies the earliest non-Indian building traditicn utilized in Arizona during
Territorial times, thus contributes in a unique way toward maintaining the integrity of
both Main Street and the district as broadly representative cross-sections of Central
Arizona urban architecture during both Territorial and early statehood periods.
born Charles Rapp, who first came to Arizona to work at the Vulture Mine near Wickenburg,

Chicago-

VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

Assessor's Parcel No. 200-48-069

Zoning: B2

South 21 ft of Block 104, Townsite of Florence, plus 2 ft adjacent on the South.




PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (contﬁnued) ' , F1-26

survive today. Building dimensions are approximately 21 ft wide (N-S) by 72 ft deep
(E-W) by 16 ft high. Exterior walls, originally raw adobe and now stuccoed, were later
topped by a double fired-brick cap course of corbelled headers. Three canales (rain
spouts) project from the outer surface of the buildina's Main Street paranet wall.
Rolled asphalt covers the original earth roof supported by Sahuaro ribs on round log
beams, presently concealed by a composition-board ceiling. A later cantilevered

"metal awning" braced to the top of the cap course with metal tie-rods, replaces the
original timber-framed arcade along Main Street. The building's original wood trim, door:
and windows have been removed from door and window openings,and the Main Street window
enlarged. The building is in good condition, and only requires a relatively modest
effort to restore or rehabilitate.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

arrived in Florence in 1875 (residence: F1-11). By the 1880s census; he was listed
as "keeping [a] saloon", advertised in the local paper two years later as featuring
an "Elegant Club & Reading Room in Connection with the Bar". After 1885 the building
housed a series of varied uses. From 1886 to 1888 it was the first location of John
Keating's famous "Tunnel Saloon". Still a saloon in 1890, by 1898 it had become a
grocery store, by 1911 a restaurant, by 1960 the town's Western Unjon office, and by
the mid-1970s, it housed a plumbing business. The building is vacant today.



ARIZONA STATE HISTORIC PROPERTY INVENTORY__

PLOPRRLY NAME i |

Florence Pharmacy/Black Cat Cafe/07d Taco Inn f Significant ! F1-27
LOCATION 80] Main Street; CURRENT PHOTOGRAPH

East side of Main between 6th & 8th Streets . SH

CITY/TOWN/VICINITY COUNTY !

Florence Pinal '

ENEXManuel & Amelia Ramirez 1/2 UI as J/T
Robert & Mercy Ramirez 1/2 UI as J/T
OWNER'S ADDRESS : '

Manuel & Amelia Ramirez

Box 24 :

Florence, AZ 85232

FORM COMPLETED BY

Harris dJ. Sobin, AIA

JADDRESS

6550 N. Skyway Road
Tucson, AZ 85718

PH0OTO BY DATE

Dale H. Frens }June 1878
VIEW

From West

[PRESENT USE [ACREACE

Commercial 2813 SF
H
STYLE OR GULIURAL FPERIOD

Early 20th Century
Commercial/Neo-Classical Revivel
STGNIFICANT DATES

Built ca. 1914
PUYSTCAL DESCRIPTION
This single story commercial structure was built on a portion of the southern half of 7th
Street legally closed by action of the Town Council in 1911. The front facade of this
structure is on the Main Street property line, its north facade set back 5 ft from the
north property line, its south facade contiguous with the adjacent building to the south
and its east facade set back approximately 50 ft from the parcel's Bailey Street property
line. Approximate building dimensions are 25 ft wide (N-S) by 75 ft deep (E-W) by 18.5 ft
high. Exterior walls are stuccoed brick. The Main Street parapet wall was designed with

STATEMENT OF STGNIFICANCE

Despite various external surface modifications (e.g., stucco finish and filled-in side
pindows), this structure still retains perhaps the best example in the district of an
Farly 20th Century Commercial/Neo-Classical Revival style interior. Above a recent
suspended acoustic tile ceiling is a superb example of a pressed-metal ceiling, complete
With cornices and a ventilated decorative "center". Early interior photographs suggest
that above the pressed-metal ceiling, the original and elegant painted plaster ceiling of
Devine's Florence Pharmacy (the structure's first occupant) may still exist intact. Much

ERBAL BUUNDARY DESCRIPTION
Assessor's Parcel No. 200-49-001

North 15 ft of the 30 ft adjacent on the North of the East half of Block 124, Townsite of
Florence, plus the North 30 ft adjacent on the North of the West half of Block 124, Town-

5ite of Florence.

Joning: B2



PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (continued) F1-27

a pressed-metal cornice above a recessed horizontal panel (for painted signage) above

a string course or ledger (later removed). The parapet is topped by a single-layer
corbelled brick cap course. A recent shingle-roofed "Western Front" type timber sidewalk
arcade supported on rough round log posts replaces an earlier cantilevered "metal awning"
which was braced to the parapet wall by metal tie-rods. Behind the log-columned arcade
and a rather extensive interior ‘“restylina”, the building is essentially intact, requirinc
only a modest effort for complete restoration. :

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

of the rest of the buildina's original fabric has also survived, including most of ‘the
door and window trim in segmentally arched openings on jts rear (east) facade.

This building is one of the first of a sizeable number of structures in the district to
have been built,starting circa 1911, on land originally dedicated as public streets.
Because of the combination of a relatively low ratio of buildable land to street area
permitted by the town's original "Ruggles grid" and growing pressure for new construction,
the Town Council began to close off some streets about 1911, granting adjoining owners
quitclaim deeds to that half of the public way adjacent to their properties, usually for
a charge of $5.00 to cover filing costs. F1-27 was constructed on a building parcel
created in this same manner, and deeded in 1911 to Joseph Spinas (residence: F1-32), then
owner of the land directly adjacent to the south. After the construction of F1-27 (in
1913 or early 1914) Spinas leased the bujldinc to his son-in-law, pharmacist and justice
of the peace Edwin B. Devine, for use as the third Main Street Tocation of Devine's
Florence Pharmacy" (and icecream parlor). By the following decade, the building had been
taken over by Yeddo Leos to house his "Black Cat Cafe" restaurant. More recently, the
structure has been used as the "01d Taco Inn", a restaurant specializing in Mexican
dishes. '



ARIZONA STATE HISTORIC PROPERTY INVENTORY__

ROPERTY NAME ' —]{ , E
Lile Bakery/Ah Lee Store/Oak Tavern | Significant F1-28
LOCATION g05 Main Street; CURRENT PHOTOGRAPH v :
East side of Main between 6th & 8th Streets
ICITY/TOWN/VICINITY ICOUNTY

Florence Pinal

OWNLK

Lindolfo R. & Margaret A. Moraga as J/T
WNER'S ADDRESS

Box 313
Florence, AZ 85232
FORM COMPLETED BY

Harris J. Sobin, AIA
ADDRESS

6550 N. Skyway Road
Tucson, AZ 85718

PHOTO BY " IDATE {
Dale H. Frens June 1978 ’
VIEW 1
From West v
[PRESENT USE , ACREAGE
Commercial (bar) 3406 SF l

Early 20th Centurv Commercial/Neo-Classical Rev
SIGNIFICANT DATES
Built 1880; transformed ca. 1910

[PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION

This single story commercial building, rectanaular in plan, was initially constructed on
the corner of Main and 7th (since abandoned), with its west and north facades on the par-
cels's original Main and 7th Street property lines respectively, and its south facade
contiguous with the adjacent structure to the south. Approximate building dimensions:
39.5 ft wide (N-S) by 72 ft deep (E-W) by 18 ft high. Exterior walls, originally raw
adobe, were veneered in brick about 1910; the brick was still more recently stuccoed. On
Main Street, the top of the building's parapet wall is formed as a stylized "entablature",
consisting of two brick string courses, each one course high, separated by a rolok course
STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The significance of this structure lies partly in the fact that it is one of the relatively
few buildings in the district to have been transformed from Sonoran adobe directly to one
of the Tater brick styles. Thus it "leapfrogged" over the intermediate phase of the
Transitional mode. The structure is also significant because it was leased for some years
as a general store by Ah Lee, prominent Florence merchant, hotel proprietor (F1-16), and

a member of the small community of Chinese business people who arrived soon after the
settlement of Florence, and remained as an integral part of the[gggg;guégqii1 and economic

R4Sty DESCRIPTION

Assessor's Parcel No. 200_49—002

STYLE OR CULIURAL FERIODq, ovan, transformed to]

—
——

North 39.5 ft of the West half of Block 124, Townsite of Florence, plus the 15 ft adjacent
on the North of the East half of Block 124, F1-28 is located on the North 39.5 ft of the
West half of Block 124. ’ '

Zoning: B2



PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (continued) F1-28

of angled brick. About a foot below this "entablature" is located an applied pressed-
metal cornice molding. Behind the parapet, rolled asphalt roofing covers a flat wood-
framed roof structure. Probably added at the same time as the brick facing was a large
L-shaped cantilevered sloping "timber awning", protecting the building's Main and 7th
Street facades. This canopy was braced to the walls of the building with diagonal
metal struts. An intricate ornamental wood scroll work was attached to its lower edge.
A portion of this awning was removed about 1913 when the next building north (F1-27)
was constructed in the south half of 7th Street. The balance of the "awning" was
removed, probably in the 1950s, to be replaced with an intrusive wood-shingle roofed
timber sidewalk "Western Front" arcade, supported on round log posts. The posts were
recently replaced by concrete slump block piers. Though much altered from its original
appearance, the building appears to be in sound condition, and is restorable.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

Available evidence suggests that among the earliest occupants of this building was J.M.
Lile's bakery (1889 to about 1892). Ah Lee's "General Merchandise, Liquors, Tobacco

& Cigars" store was located here from about 1909 to 1913, followed by the Phil Nicholas
Meat Market (1914-1920), a restaurant (1941), and for the last 20 years, Mayor James
Avenenti's Oak Tavern (a bar).



ARIZONA STATE HISTORIC PROPERTY INVENTORY___

ROPERTY NAME ¢en House and Butcher Shop/First|

Telephone Exchange Il Significant R-29
LOCATION 1201 Main Street; CURRENT PHOTOGRAFPH

Southeast corner,.Main & 11th Streets

CITY/TOWN/VICINITY _ COUNTY

Florence Pinal

OWNER

Mountain States Telephone & Telegraph Co.
OWNER'S ADDRESS

031 14th Street
Denver, CO 80202

FORM COMPLETED BY '
Harris J. Sobin, AIA i

ADDRESS

6550 N. Skyway Road
Tucson, AZ 85718

HOTO BY DATE
Harris J. Sobin, AIA Sept 1979
VIEW
From Northwest ~
IPRESENT USE ACREAGE
Vacant Commercial Y325 SF

STYLE OR CULTURAL PERIOD

Sonoran, transformed to Early Transitional
SIGNIFICANT DATES

Built prior to 1882; transformed after 1941

[PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION

A single story commercial structure, originally L-shaped on plan. Later demolitions and
~ladditions have produced its present nearly square plan form. The structure is built with
its west and north facades on the parcel's Main and 11th Street property lines respective-
ly. Approximate building dimensions: 31 ft wide (N-S) by 37 ft deep (E-W) by 16.5 ft
maximum height (to gable ridge). Exterior walls are of stucco on adobe, except for the
Main Street facade, to which a dark brown colored board-and-batten wood facing has been
added. Corrugated metal roofing covers a wood-framed gable-plus-leanto roof structure
installed (ca. 1915-1920) above the building's original wood-supported flat Sonoran-type
STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

In addition to constituting a good example of Transformed Sonoran architecture, (one of the
few representatives of this mode left on Main Street), this early adobe for many years
housed Florence's first Telephone Exchange. Available evidence suggests that the building
was originally built as a residence and shop by Francisco Cuen, a butcher. As initially
constructed, the building was L-shaped, with two one-room-wide wings, the longer one
(residence?) fronting on 11th Street, and the shorter one (shop?) on Main. The building
interior was extensively remodeled in October, 1910 for use as Florence's first "telephone
{central office". At about this time, the structure's 11th Street wing was shortened. The
ERBAL BOUUNDARY DESCRIPTION

Assessor's Parcel No. 200-49-039

»

North 31 ft of Block 181, Townsite of Florence, excluding the East 50. ft.

Zoning: B2




PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (continued) F1-29

earth roof. After 1941, a new "back room" was built, transforming the L-plan into

the present square. The new room is equipped with a large skylight, helping to maintain
pre-existing daylighting levels inside the building. Except for a portion of metal roof-
ing damaged in a recent wind storm, and its wood-veneered front facade, F1-29 is in good
condition, with much of its interior and exterior form quite intact. The building is
readily restorable.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

building continued in use as the town's telephone exchange until after 1941. By 1960
it had become the office of attorneys Tom Fulbright and Ernest McFarland (see F1-38).
Fulbright, a prominent Florence lawyer, served as Pinal County District Attorney and,
later, as Attorney for the Town of Florence. During this period a new room was added to
the building's southeast corner, to bring it up to its present square plan form.



ARIZONA STATE HISTORIC PROPERTY INVENTORY_

PUTPERTY NANE {
Significant

m_mmJ

i

y .. ‘ !
Jesus Martinez/Clemente Romo- Residence i § F1-30
LOCATION 805 Bailey Street; QJLRRENE PHOTOGRAPH
fast side of Bailey between 6th & 8th Streets.
CITY/TOWN/VICINITY COUNTY
Florence Pinal
LW

Cletus & Ethel Ball 3/4 UI; Margaret Gran-
i1lo 1/8 UIl:Barbara E. & Jack R. Moraga 1/8 UI
OWNER'S ADDRESS

c/o Ethel Ball

Box 968

Florence, AZ 85232
FORM COMPLETED RY
Harris J. Sobin, AIA

ADDRESS

6550 N. Skyway Road
Tucson, AZ 85718

|
ffrOT0 BY DATE |
Harris J. Sobin, AIA §ept 1979 &
N1Ew %
From Northwest _ ‘ i’
RECENT UoF TACREACT. E
Residence , 19,375 SF

SLYLE OR CJLLUKQM &E‘l{lu”

Sonoran transformed to Early Transitional

STGNIFICANT DATES
Built ca. 1875; transformed ca. 1912-14

HYSTCAL DESCRL}TIO

his is a s1ng1e story detached dwelling, U-shaped in p]an built with its north facade
bn the parcel's original 7th Street property line, its west facade on the Bailey Street
property line, and its south facade on the parce1’s south property Tine. Approximate
pverall building dimensions: 62 ft (N-S) aleng Bailey Street, 55 ft (E-W) along the south
facade and -38 ft (E-W) along the ncrth (7th Street) facade. The north wing is 21 ft
deep *(N-S), the south wing is 15 ft to 16 ft deep (N-S) and the west wing is 18 ft deep
(E-W). Exterior walls are stucco on adobe.. Corrugated metal roofing on a wood-framed

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The significance of this building resides chiefly in its special architectural qualities,
and in the fact of its exceptionally intact and unaltered interior (which has survived

ko well in part due to the addition of the protective Anglo-style metal roof). Sonoran
house plan-types were usually developed through an assemblage over time of small one-room
'modules" (Timited in size by the span of available Tog beams). This produced a range

pf plan-types, from single modules to various kinds of multi-module configurations, in-
cluding the U-shape and even fully-enclosed patio-centered layouts. F1-30 is the only

7ERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION
fAssessor's Parcel No. 200-49-004

AT1 of Block 125, plus the 30 ft adjacent on the North.

oning: TR




PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (continued) - F1-30

hip-roof structure was installed about 1912-1914 over an original earth roof supported
by sahuaro rib decking on round log beams and girders. On the interior, the original
Sonoran roof structure is fully visible, and clearly intact. The original manta (cloth
ceiling) has been removed but its Tight wood framing remains. The building's original
wood trim, doors and double-hung windows are remakably intact. In general, this is
probably the best-preserved, least-altered of Florence's Sonoran structures, with an
excellent potential for restoration or rehabilitation.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

extant Sonoran house in Florence which achieved the development of a U-shaped plan-type,
resulting in a patio enclosed on all but one side.

There is little evidence available which helps identify the builder or a construction
date for F1-30. However, recorded deeds suggest that Jesus Martinez, a local farmer
originally from New Mexico, may have built at least a portion of the structure by about
the mid-1870s. In 1880, Martinez conveyed an undivided one-half interest in the parcel
to Clemente Romo, an adobe mason, for $300.00 (a price which suggests a structure may
have already existed on the parcel) and the same month, Romo took out a $600 mortgage

on the property. Cox's survey map of 1882 indicates the structure completed to its
present size and shape. By 1883, Romo had become sole owner of the entire parcel. By
1890, the building was subdivided into three separate units, becoming a single dwelling
some time between 1912 and 1915. The various uses of the units demonstrate the inherently
high degree of internal flexibility provided by this simple type of "modular planning".
Prior to 1915, the three units each had its own entrance from Bailey Street and were used
as follows: the northernmost unit was a store (1898-1911), the central unit was a
residence, and the southernmost unit a meat market (1890). The three units were only
consolidated as a single residence after 1915.



ARIZONA STATE HISTORIC PROPERTY INVENTORY__

P oUPRRLY NAME ng !
« - z » - 3
Brunenkant's City Bakery/Florence Town Library §i Significant § F1-31
ATION : CURE PHOTOGRAPE
LOCATION g1 Bailey Street; URRENT PHOTOGRAPH
Southeast corner of Bailey & 8th Streets
CITY/TOWN/VICINITY COUNTY
Florence Pinal
IR

Town of Florence
OWNER'S ADDRESS

Box 490
Florence, AZ 85232

FORM COMPLETED BY
Harris J. Sobin, AIA

ADDRESS

6550 N. Skyway Road i
Tucson, AZ 85718

P=0T0 BY IDATE

Dale H. Frens §June 1878
VIEW .

From Southwest :

PRECEN USE ‘!ACRBAGE
Town Library | 7813 SF
STYLE OR CULTURAL PERICD #
American Victorian
SIGNIFICANT DATES ‘ .
Built in 1889-1890: rehabilitated in 1873 .
PHYSICAL DESCRIFTION

This is a two-story commercial building, a Tong rectangle in p]an plus a small attached
one-story wing on the rear (east) facade. This structure was built as a "corner building'
with its west and north facades located directly on the parcel's Bailey and 8th Street
property Tines. Approximate overall building dimensions: 22 ft wide (N-S) by 62 ft deep
(E-W). Exterior walls are made of locally-produced “soft" sand-struck brick on a ba-

saltic stone foundation wall. On the street facades (north and west sides) of the two
story portion of the building, an ornate parapet projects beyond the wall surface, and

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

This American-Victorian building is significant (1), because of its intrinsic archi-
tectural value and quality, (2), because it effectively symbo1izes the early and sub-
stantial contribution of d1sp1aced Europeans to the economic, cultural and environmental
qualities of the town, and (3), because it was the first historic structure in Florence
to have been rehabilitated (in this case for public use). The building is a fine example
of the American-Victorian conception of an urban commercial structue. Its rectilinear
form, street-side cornices and blind side-wall make it well adapted for use as part of a

ERBAL BOUNDARY DRSCRIPTION

Assessor's Parcel No. 200-49-011

North half of Block 147, Townsite of Florence.

Zoning: TR




PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (continued) , F1-31

has a row of corbelled brick courses in a dentil pattern below a projecting denticulate
band and a two-course brick parapet cap. On the other hand, the parapet on the south
and east (non-street) sides of the building's main volume is flush - with the wall
surface, and topped only with the two-course brick parapet cap. Rock-faced cut lintels
and sills of major door and window openings are of locally-quarried mauve-colored stone
(probably rhyolite). Behind the parapet walls is a flat timber-framed roof structure
covered with rolled asphalt. Access to the second floor was originally by means of a
double exterior straight-run wood stairway, located on the building's south side. On
the second floor, a small, elaborate bracketed metal balcony originally projected from
the center of the north (8th Street) facade. Both stair and balcony have been removed,
and the original access door has been filled in. The building has a nearly full-sized
basement with access by an exterior stair in an areaway adjacent to the south facade.
The building was initially designed to house a bakery and bake-shop on the ground floor,
plus rental space on the second floor. The bakery's ovens were located in the small
one-story 'bake house' wing at the rear. When rehabilitated in 1973 for adpative use

as the Town Library, about two-thirds of the second floor was removed, a new interior
stajr installed, the main entrance was shifted from the west (Bailey Street) to the
south facade, and a column-supported arcade was added to the west facade. The building,
in good condition, is well maintained.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)
contiguous row of commercial buildingsin a city block.

The structure was originally built for a Dutch-born grocer and baker, Conrad Brunenkant,
who came to Florence from Pinal City in 1889, after the closing of the Silver King Mine.
His "City Bakery" building opened in April, 1890 with a free dance. Brunenkant's son,
Alvin, continued a family grocery business on the ground floor into the 1930s, and also
served several térms as the town's mayor. The building continued to house a grocery
store into the early 1960s. The second floor of the building was initially used as
Doctor Albert Adler's office (1890-92), then as hotel rooms (ca. 1898-1910), and from ca.
1914 until after 1941 as headguarters for the Tocal chapter of the "Alianza Hispano-
Americana”, a fraternal order. After some years of remaining vacant, the structure

was rehabilitated in 1973 by the Florence Library Board for adaptive use as the Town
Library. This effort was aided by a successful local fund drive and by the Florence
Industrial Development Authority.



ARIZONA STATE HISTORIC PROPERTY INVENTORY___

PROPERTY NAME jacob Suter Residence/Pinal § : %

County Visitor Center Significant [ F1-32
LOCATION 906 Pinal Street; CURRENT PHOTOGRAPH

West side of Pinal Street bet. 8th & 10th Sts. i .

CITY/TOWN/VICINITY ICOUNTY - 3

i

Florence . | Pinal
wwhis Tndustrial Development Authority of
the Town of Florence, Inc.

QOWNER'S. ADDRESS

Jacob Suter House

906 Pinal Street

Florence, AZ 85232

FORM COMPLETED BY
Harris J. .Sobin,:AIA

IADDRESS

a0

6550 N. Skyway Road
Tucson, AZ 85718

P00 BY DATE

Dale H. Frens iJune 1978
VIEW

From Northeast

[PRESENT UStPinal County Visitor ACREACE

Center & Industrial Authority office 4188 SF
STYLE OR CULTURAL PERIOD

Late Transitional
STIGNIFICANT DATES
Built in 1888, remodelled 1917, rehab. 1976

PHYSICAL DESCRIFTION

A single story detached dwelling, approximately square in plan, built with the outer
faces of its adobe walls set back a porch-width (about 10 ft) from the parcel's north
and east property lines and from its south (originally the 9th Street) property line.
Approximate building dimensions (including verandas on all four sides): 50 ft wide

(E-W) by 55 ft deep (N-S) by 23 ft in maximum height (to top of mansard roof). Exterior
walls are stucco on adobe. Originally, N-S interior walls were of mud-plastered adobe.
E-W interior walls were of double-walled wood frame construction. Corrugated metal

STATEMENT OF SIGNLFIGANCE

oserssiiae

This building is an excellent example of the Late Transitional style, characterized by
the use of Spanish-Mexican sun-dried adobe walls and pyramidal frame wood-shingled,
Anglo-American roofs, porches, and full setbacks. The building also provides evidence

of the presence of displaced Europeans and their contributions to the early economic and
cultural life of the town. This house was built by Jacob Suter, a Swiss-born tinsmith,
hardware merchant and prominent Florence citizen who served as a member of the Pinal
County Board of Supervisors and as its Chairman during the period 1883-1886. His elegant

VERBAL BOUUNDARY DESURLIFTION

Assessor's Parcel No. 200-49-012

East 67 ft of the South half of Block 147, Townsite of Florence.

Zoning: TR




PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (continued) . . F1-32

roofing replaces original wood shingles on a wood-framed mansard (or truncated hip)
roof structure. A 12 ft wide brick wing, containing an indoor bathroom. and kitchen,
was added by a later owner across the north end of the house during the period 1897-
1910. This wing was removed and replaced by an extension of the original veranda
during the 1975-76 rehabilitation of the building for adaptive use as Pinal County
Visitor Center and headquarters for the Florence Industrial Development Authority.

The plan of this house was initially a typical center-hall or zaguan layout. A wood
attic floor and 13 ft high flat redwood T & G ceilings nailed to either side of wood
ceiling joists, were under a mansardic dimensioned-lumber-framed roof. Both the roof
and the attic floor were supported by exterior and center hall adobe walls. The attic stai
was built within the interior space of one of the double wood-framed interior partition
walls. Access to the stair was probably by an exterior door located at the center of
the west facade. About 1917, a later owner, Joseph Spinas, remodelled the east side

of the house interijor in the Bungalow style. This remodelling included removal of

one of the center hall's side walls, plus one of the double frame cross walls between
two adjacent rooms, creating a typical Bungalow-type combined 1iving-dining room. New
Tower (10 ft) ceilings were installed throughout the house, and the front (south side)
door was relocated. The 1976 rehabilitation reversed most of these 1917 changes, re-
taining all original (Transitional style) portions of the interior.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

new house, with its shingled roof and central hall, was itself proof of how far the
town had moved in the direction of a more stable and increasingly sophisticated
frontier culture, from its rough and at times violent start only 30 years before.
Later owners included Joseph Spinas (from 1898 to 1918), wealthy rancher responsible
for the Bungalow-style interior remodelling of 1917, and after his death, one of his
married daughters, Eleanor Spinas Nicholas (from 1918 to 1933).



ARIZONA  STATE HISTORIC PROPERTY INVENTORY____

TRUPERLY NAME i
Joseph Spinas "Rental" House g Significant i F1-33

LOCATION 1009 Bailey Street; Northeast corner [JCURRENT PHOTOGRAPH
of Bailey & 10th Streets

CITY/TOWN/VICINITY COUNTY
Florence Pinal
LW I

Kellner C. Ellington
OWNER'S ADDRESS

Box 322
Florence, AZ 85232

FORM COMPLETED BY
Harris J. Sobin, AIA

ADDRESS

6550 N. Skyway Road
Tucson, AZ 85718

P=HOTO BY , §DATE
Harris J. Sobin, AIA : |Sept 1979
VIEW o . : : :

From Southwest

5&ES£§? 53 : : . JACREAGE

Residence . 110,125 SF
STYLE OR CULTURAL PERIOD ’
American-Victorian transformed to Bungalow
SIGNIFICANT DATES

Built in 1913

PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION .

A single story detached dwelling, built with full setbacks (10 ft or more) on all four
sides. Approximate building dimensions: 45 ft wide (N-S) by 32 ft deep (E-W; including
porch). Exterior walls: exposed Tocal sand-struck brick. Interijor and porch floor
level is about 3 feet above grade. Corrugated sheet metal roofing on timber-framed hip
roof structure, with attic dormer vent on the portion of roof directly above the center

of front (west) entrance facade. An open porch was added within two years of initial
construction date to the west side of this building, and covered by a more gently pitched

STATEMENT OF SIGNITICANCE

This building is significant from both architectural and historical stand points. Sty-
listically, the building combines an original core of simple, “"pattern book" American~
Victorian (brick walls; segmented arches; full setbacks) with slightly later additions
exemplifying the Bungalow style (full-width front porch; elaborate stick-brackets con-
necting porch roof structure to supporting brick piers; horizontally-proportioned attic
vent). The house was built by local contractor George Smith for its first owner, Joseph
Spinas, as rental income property. A naturalized citizen of Swiss origin, Spinas was a

TERBAL BUOUNDARY DESTRIPTION
Assessor's Parcel No. 200-49-023

South 81 ft of Block 158, Townsite of Florence. F1-33 is located on the Western half of
this parcel; it thus shares the same parcel with F1-126.

Zoning: TR




PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (continued) , F1-33

continuation of the building's hip roof. The porch is supported on its outer edge by
a row of slender square brick piers. Door and window openings in exterior walls are
formed using segmental brick arches. The interijor's rough-plastered walls and wood
trim are intact, and well maintained by the present owner.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

prominent and successful Pinal County cattle rancher. In 1871, Spinas working in
partnership with his two brothers, built one of the first irrigation ditches in the
Florence area to have been constructed on the north side of the Gila, called the
Spinas or Swiss ditch. Spinas ranched in the Owl Heads district southeast of Florence
in the 1880s, and moved to Florence about 1898 (residence: F1-32).



ARIZONA STATE HISTORIC PROPERTY INVENTORY__

T PERTY WAME E; ,

Joseph Spinas House Garage Neutral iF]- 33A
CCATION CURRENT PHOTOGRAPH §

1009 Bailey Street (Garage) :

CITY/TOWN/VICINITY COUNTY

Florence , Pinal

LW

Kellner C. Ellington
OWNER'S ADDRESS

Box 322
Florence, AZ 85232

FORY COMPLETED BY

arris J. Sobin. AIA
ADDRESS

S

T er L e e A Do S5 RSN

6550 N. Skyway Road
Tucson, AZ 85718

JFo070 BY IDATE
Dale H. Frens lJune 1978 |

VIEW

From South

PRECENT Uow iACREAGE
Garage 10,125 SF_j;
STYLE OR CULTURAL PERICD
Contemporary/Utilitarian
SIGNIFICANT DATES

Built post-1960
IPHYSICAL DESCRIPTION

A single story automobile garage, built with its front facade on the parcel's south (10th
Street) property line. Approximate building dimensions,27 ft wide (E-W) by 25 ft deep

(N-S). Exterior walls: exposed brick-size concrete block, wood-framed gable roof covered
with corrugated metal roofing. The building is in good condijtion.

STATEMERT OF SIGNIFICANCE

In the context of the "mixed" site emplacement and building form tradition of the town's
Main Street/Bailey Street subarea where this accessory structure is located, its "zero-
setback" street-side siting and simple gabled form help it achieve a relatively high
degree of compatibility with jts older, less purely utilitarian neighbors. This structure
replaces an older, smaller corrugated-metal garage which stood from ca. 1913 until after
1941 immediately to the west of F1-33A. F1-33A is ancillary to F1-33, the Joseph Spinas

"Rental House".

ERBAL BOURDARY. DESURIFPTIUN

Assessor's Parcel No. 200-49-023

South 81 ft of Block 158, Townsite of Florence {Jocated on Southern portion of same
parcel as F1-33).

Zoning: TR




ARIZONA STATE HISTORIC PROPERTY INVENTORY__

FLOPERTY NAME _ L 1

Cosgrove/Nicholas/Aguilar Residence Significant K F1-34
i

LOCATION CURRENT PHOTOGRAPH '

1101 Bailey Street

CTITY/TOWN/VICINITY COUNTY

Florence Pinal

George R. Ehrhardt 1/2 UI;Mary H. Person 1/2 Ul

OWNER 'S ADDRESS

Box 127
Albert Lea, MN 56007

FORM COMPLETED RY
Harris J. Sobin, AIA

IADDRESS
6550 N. Skyway Road i
Tucson, AZ 85718 :
P=0OTO BY IDATE

Dale H. Frens %June 1978
VIEW

ront facade from West
PRECENT LUGE , JACREACE
Residence :7813 SF

STYLE OR CULTURAL PERIOD
Sonoran transformed to

Farly Transitional,transf. to American Victoria
SIGNIFICART DATES Byilt ca. 1878;t'f'd to Early
Trans. bet 1891 & 98;t'f'd to A-V bet 1900-10 Jf

'PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION

A single story detached dwelling, rectangular in plan, buil with its west facade set back
about 10 ft (about a porch-width) from the parcel's Bailey Street property Tine, and with
its south facade approximately 2 ft from the parcel's south property line. Approximate
overall building dimensions: 45 ft long (N-S) by 38 ft deep (E-W). The building was buil
in two distinct phases: Phase A (western third), built ca. 1878 (approximately 45 ft
(N-S) by 15 ft (E-W), originally Sonoran, transformed to Early Transitional between 1891
and 1898 by addition of a wood-shingled, wood-framed gable roof structure over the

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

This structure is significant for its intrinsic architectural quality and excellent state
of preservation. This structure has significance also as one of the more striking mani-
| festations 1in the district of the growing predisposition against,and discontent with a
set of older architectural forms and materials which had become identified with what was
perceived as a subordinate culture by the 1880s. This discontent became a major motiv-
ation and impetus in the district for architectural change in the Tate 19th and early 20t
century. F1-34 was built about 1878 by the Cosgrove family (Frank, an - Irish-born black-

smith and his Sonoran-born wife, Isabel) as an adobe-walled, mud roofed Sonoran Structure
TERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

Assessor's Parcel No. 200-49-032

North half of Block 179, Townsite of Florence.

Zoning: TR




PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (continued) F1-34

. Sonoran earth roof, and then transformed again to American-Victorian between
1900 and 1910 by addition of a veneer of local sand-struck fired brick, complete with
segmentally-arched door and window openings; Phase B (central third), built between
1891 and 1898 approximately 45 ft (N-S) by 13 ft E-W), a wood-shingle roofed stuccoed
frame walled leanto attached to the east side of Phase A; Phase C (eastern third),
built between 1916 and 1941, approximately 45 ft (N-S) by 10 ft (E-W), a wood-shingle
roofed, wood-framed leanto garage, attached to the east side of Phase B. By 1941, the
wood shingleroofing of Phases A and B had been replaced with corrugated metal. Pro-
bably at the same time that Phase B was built, "match stick" wood ceilings were installed
in Phases A and B. Most of the building's interior wood trim, casings, doors and windows
have survived intact. The northwest room of Phase A contains a typical, and original
Sonoran corner fireplace. F1-34 has been recently and sympathetically restored with
much care and respect by its present owner-occupants.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

A wood-shingled gable roof was installed above the earth roof some time between 1890

and 1898 by the next owner, Theophile Nicholas, nephew .07’ 7. :nch~born raneher <nd-saloon-
keeper John Nicholas (see F1-36 and F1-37), conforming to a growing trend to give earlier
flat-roofed adobes new Anglo-style roofs (for cultural as well as functional reasons).
Between 1898 and 1911, the adobe portions of the house were given a veneer of more
fashionable fired brick. This amounted to the “"final step" in the process of the
"naturalization” of the originally Hispanic appearance of F1-34. The Cosgrove/Nicholas/
Aguilar Residence remains one of Florence's few examples of "double transformation",

and the only one inventoried within the district.



ARIZONA  STATE HISTORIC PROPERTY INVENTORY__

|
!

PeuPERTY NAME First Nicholas Beer Hall/Second
Enterprise Office & Printing Plant %

Significant % F1- 35
LOCATION - ‘ CURRENT PHOTOGRAP? :
1100 Bailey Street
CITY/TOWN/VICINITY COUNTY
Florence Pinal

WK
Pascual & Norma Figueroa as J/T
OWNER'S ADDRESS

Box 401
Florence, AZ 85232

FORY COMPLETED BY
Harris J. Sobin, AIA

ADDRESS

6550 N. Skyway Road
Tucson, AZ 85718

PL070 BY IDATE
Harris J. Sobin, AIA  Sept 1979 | -
i
VTEW
From Northeast : B
PRECLNT UOF ACREACTE

Residential 12687 SF
STYLE OF CULTURAL PERIOD :
Sonoran transformed to Early Transitional »
SIGNIFICANT DATES Byilt ca. 1886; transformed %i

to Early Transitional after 1915

IPHYSICAL DESCRIPTION This is a single story corner structure, rectangular in plan,built
with its north and east facades Tocated on the parcel's 10th and Bailey Street property
Tines respectively. Its south wall is contiguous with an earlier adobe structure (F1-36)
adjacent on the south. Approximate building dimensions are 32 ft wide (E-W) by 43 ft
deep (N-S). Exterior walls, originally raw adobe, are now stuccoed. An open frame Tean-
to shed structure attached to the west facade was fully enclosed and stuccoed at a later
date. Corrugated metal roofing covers a wood-framed gable roof structure added after
1915 above the building's original flat earth roof on sahuaro rib decking on round log

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE The significance of this trunsformed adobe resides chiefly in
the fact that it served as the second office and printing plant for the Arizona Weekly
Enterprise, Florence's second newspaper from the late 1880s up to the time the paper was
moved to Tucson (1892) (For First Enterprise office, see F1-76). The paper's use of this
building during 1890-91 is confirmed by the 1890 Sanborn map and an 1891 photograph. The
building appears to have been leased by its owner, John Nicholas (see F1-36 & F1-37) to
the paper. The building is associated with two of the Enterprise's early publisher/
editors, Rollin C. Brown (residence F1-13) and George W. Brown, co-editors of the paper

%ERBAL BOUNDARY. DESCRIPTION

Assessor's Parcel No. 200-49-035
North 43 ft of the Fast half of Block 180, Townsite of Florence.

Zoning: B2




PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (continued) F1-35

beams. Other Tater changes include steel window sash, and an arched north garden
entrance just west of the original lean-to shed structure. The building is in good
condition, and readily restorable.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)
from 1887 to 1892.

The structure is a typical example of a one-room deep Sonoran rowhouse, with its
layout generated by a simple in-Tine assemblage of several square adobe modules
contiguously along a street. The gable roof was added some time after 1915, but
before 1941. The building's probable first use was as John Nicholas' "New Beer Hall".
According to a June, 1888 newspaper advertisement, this establishment offered
customers "Fine California Beer on Draught" served in "The Coolest Place in Town".
After its days as a combination newspaper office and printing shop, the building

was used as a general store (ca. 1911-1015), and later as a dwelling (1930s to date).
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TOPERTY NANE il ‘
John N1cho]as Residence Significant i
LOCATION CURRENT PHOTOGRAPH

1104 Bailey Street

CITY/TOWN/VICINITY COUNTY
Florence Pinal

LI

F1-36

0 i)

Pascual Figueroa
CWNER'S ADDRESS

Box 401
Florence, AZ 85232 5

FORM COMPLETED RBY

Harris J. Sobin, AIA
ATDRESS

6556 N. Skyway Road
Tucson, AZ 85718

_ i
P~0T0 BY IDATE ég‘
Harris J. Sobin, AIA | Sept 1979 fg'
VIEW %
From Southeast : |
PREGENT Lof JACREAGL

Residence 13188 SF
TYLE OR CULTURAL PERIOD ’
Sonoran transformed to Early Transitional

STIGNIFICANT DATES
Built prior to 1881; transformed after 1941 §

IPHYSICAL DESCRIPTION A single story rowhouse originally (pre-1882) rectangular in plan,
L-shaped by 1890, and square in plan by 1915. Built with its east facade on the parcel's
Bailey Street property line, this structure was the first building on Block 180 of the
Townsite. The next structure to be built on the block was constructed immediately adja-
cent to the north (F1-35), with its south wall contiguous with the north wall of F1-36.
Approximate overall building dimensjons: 26 ft wide (N-S) by 33 ft deep (E-W). Exterior
walls are stucco on adobe with a 2 ft high projecting stuccoed "water table" or "plinth"
around their bases, providing a visible indication of a stone or brick foundation wall/

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE This structure's significance relates to both its architectural
and urban qualities. Architecturally, it is a good example of a typical Sonoran rowhouse
Urbanistically, it is an integral component of an authentic ensemble of "zero-setback"
Sonoran and Victorian structures along this part of Bailey Street between 10th and 12th
Streets. The relatively intact quality of this ensemble is important for the continuity
of the streetscape in the southeastern part of the district.

The easternmost portion of F1-36 was built prior to 1882 (it appears on Cox' Townsite
Survey of that year) and in all probability by John Nicholas. French-born Nicholas

VERBAT, BOUNDARY DESCRIPTTON
Assessor's Parcel No. 200-49-036

South 51 ft of the North 94 ft of the East half of Block 180, Townsite of Florence.

Zoning: B2




PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (continued) F1-36

underpinning. Atop the original (pre-1882) rectangular portion of the building, .
corrugated metal roofing covers a wood-framed gable roof (installed after 1941) over
the original Tog-supported earth roof. Most of the original exterior wood doors,
windows and trim have been replaced, although some wood windows may be original. A
recent and out-of-character remodelling included the addition of decorative iron
security grilles over window openings facing Bailey Street, and a cement block wall
incorporating an arched doorway and an iron-grillwork gate. The building is in good
condition and is readily restorable.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

owned and operated a farm located on the banks of the Gila 10 miles east of Florence.
He also operated a beer hall circa 1886-1889 in the bujlding adjacent to the north
(F1-35), moving the business in October, 1889 into a new brick building (F1-37) im-
mediately adjacent to the south. This pattern conforms to the 19th century practice
of concentrating business uses at street corners, with residential uses filling up
the spaces in between corners. F1-36 has been in use as a dwelling since its cons-
truction.
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PHOPERTY NAME John Nicholas Second Saloon and i \ |
Beer Hall i significant | F1-37

LOCATION 107-109 East 11th Street; CURRENT PHOTOGRAPH
Northwest corner of Bailey & 11th Streets ”
CTTY/TOWN/VICINITY kOUNTY

Florence § Pinal

i e RS

Ralph, Sr. & Blanca Marmion

OWNER'S ADDRESS

Box 288
Florence, AZ 85232

FORM COMPLETED BY

Harris J. Sobin, AIA
IADDRESS

6550 N. Skyway Road
Tucson, AZ 85718

5070 BY DATE %%
Dale H. Frens . iJune 1978
VIEW

From Southeast

CRECENT USE !ACREAGE
Residential 11938 SF
STYLE OR CULTURAL PERIUD

American Victorian

SIGNIFICANT DATES

Built in 1889

e e
R R SR o

IPHYSTCAL DESCRIPTION This is a single story commercial building, rectangular in plan,
with its east and south facades on the parcel's Bailey and 11th Street property lines
respectively. The building's approximate dimensions are 42 ft wide (E-W) by 18 ft deep
(N-S). Exterior walls: originally exposed locally-made sand-struck brick, later painted.
An ornate parapet projects slightly beyond the wall surface on all four facades, and is
made up of an angled soldier course between two string courses of stretcher brick below
a single rolok band of recessed one-brick wide panels below two rows of corbelled stret-
cher courses below a double parapet cap (the top course of which is made up of brick

SIATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE The earliest fired-brick building still standing in Florence,
and the town's second oldest brick structure, the second Nicholas Saloon and Beer Hall is
an excellent example of the flat-roofed commercial American Victorian style. It is also
one of the few historic structures in the district built with a basement. The degree of
sophistication apparent in the design, detailing and execution of this building's brick
work represents a real tour-de-force, considering its time and place. It also suggests
that an architect, such as James M. Creighton of Phoenix, well-versed in the architectur-
al skills required to design such a building, participated in the project; a month after

KERBAT BOURDARY DESTRIPTTION
Assessor's Parcel No. 200-49-037
South 31 ft of the East half of Block 180, Townsite of Florence.

Zoning: B2




PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION (continued) | F1-37

headers. The segmental arches which are integrated with ornamental brick hoods to
form all the building's door and window heads, are Tinked together by a continuous
double string course on all sides of the building. Behind the parapet is a metal-
covered wood-framed flat roof structure. F1-37 originally had three entrances, two
of which were on 11th Street and one on Bailey Street. The Tower half of the Bailey
Street entrance has been blocked up and stuccoed. Except for the latter modification
and recent exterior painting., the building appears to be in excellent and readily
restorable condition. The building was built with a full basement.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

F1-37 opened for business, Creighton was awarded the contract to design the Second
Pinal County Courthouse (F1-43).

John Nicholas, French-born rancher, farmer, and saloon-keeper, came to Florence in
1880, opened his First Beer Hall (F1-35) about 1886, and moved into this building,
his new “Saloon and Beer Hall) in October, 1889. Its interior was said to have been
cooled in summer by a steam-powered (!) fan. The building has been used for various
purposes, includina the office of the Pinal County Chapter of the American Red Cross
(ca. 1960), and is presently a rental dwelling unit<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>